# MIAMI UNIVERSITY The Graduate School

Certificate for Approving the Dissertation

We hereby approve the Dissertation

of

Sabita Ghimire

# **Candidate for the Degree**

# DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Annette Bollmann, Director

Rachael Morgan-Kiss, Reader

Xin Wang, Reader

D.J. Ferguson, Reader

Michael J. Vanni, Graduate School Representative

# ABSTRACT

# AMMONIA AS THE DRIVING FACTOR FOR AEROBIC AMMONIA OXIDIZERS

by

## Sabita Ghimire

Ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (AOB), ammonia-oxidizing archaea (AOA) and complete ammonia oxidizers (comammox) comprise aerobic ammonia oxidizers (AO). Here, we present the ammonium concentration as a determinant of the distribution of ammonia-oxidizers.

The ecophysiology of comammox enrichment Cmx-BO4 was characterized by growing it in different ammonium concentrations, pH, light and nitrite concentrations. Cmx-BO4 oxidized up to 3 mM ammonium, with the highest growth rate at 10  $\mu$ M ammonium. The comammox enrichment oxidized ammonium through pH 6 to 8 and was inhibited by blue and white light. Cmx-BO4 oxidized nitrite in presence of ammonium but did not oxidize nitrite only. The genomic characterization of comammox strain *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 in the comammox enrichment Cmx-BO4 was performed through metagenomic sequencing. The metagenome assembled genome (MAG) of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 possessed genes for ammonia and nitrite oxidation. The MAG, however, lacked genes for assimilatory nitrite reduction and nitrite transporters, corresponding to the inability of the culture to consume nitrite as the nitrogen source.

Comammox *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 was competed for ammonium against AOA *Nitrosoarchaeum* sp. BO1 to investigate if the two oligotrophic AO had niche differentiation or if they co-existed in nature. Cmx-BO4 and AOA-BO1 have *Nitrosopira* sp. BO4 and *Nitrosoarchaeum* sp. BO1 as the AO respectively. *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 outcompeted *Nitrospira* sp. BO1 at all three tested ammonium concentrations (<10-, 50- and 500  $\mu$ M). Comammox may have an advantage over AOA at ammonium limited environments and the AOA may occupy microniches devoid of comammox to be able to coexist in oligotrophic environments.

The effect of elevated ammonium availability was investigated to characterize the toxic effects of high ammonium concentration on *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 and *N. eutropha*. We cultivated both cultures at low, intermediate and high ammonium concentrations to investigate the effect of ammonium concentrations on gene expression.

Overall, the activity and growth of AO depends on the ammonium concentration. The concentration of ammonium is a factor determining the distribution of AO in nature.

# AMMONIA AS THE DRIVING FACTOR FOR AEROBIC AMMONIA OXIDIZERS

# A DISSERTATION

Presented to the Faculty of

Miami University in partial

fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Microbiology

by

Sabita Ghimire

The Graduate School Miami University Oxford, Ohio

2023

Dissertation Director: Annette Bollmann

©

Sabita Ghimire

2023

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Tables	iv
List of Figures	v
Dedication	vii
Acknowledgements	vii
Introduction	1
Chapter 1. Ecophysiological and genomic characterization of the freshwater complete ammonia oxidizer <i>Nitrospira</i> sp. BO4	10
Chapter 2. Competition between ammonia-oxidizing Archaea and complete ammonia oxidizers from freshwater environments	45
Chapter 3. Underlying mechanism of high ammonium-toxicity in ammonia-oxidizing bacteria. Summary References	72 91 98

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Primers used in this study to amplify <i>amoA</i> and <i>nxrB</i> sequences. Data aboutPCR conditions and qPCR validation can be found in Table 2.	17
Table 2. PCR conditions (temperature [°C]/time [s]) for all PCR's and validation of Cn BO4 <i>amoA</i> qPCR of DNA samples.	nx- 18
Table 3. Isolate identification and Genbank assembly accession numbers of the genome used for the phylogenomic tree presented in Figure 2.	es 21
Table 4. Community composition of the enrichment culture Cmx-BO4 based on 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequencing and classification of the metagenomic reads in KBase using Kaiju.	23
Table 5. Taxonomic affiliation [%] of selected nitrogen cycle genes detected in the metagenome of the enrichment culture Cmx-BO4 analyzed in KBase.	26
Table 6. Overview over Nitrospira sp. BO4 MAG assembled in K-Base.	27
Table 7. Genome properties of the <i>Nitrospira</i> sp. BO4 MAG. Values in parentheses represent the percent (%) of total genes.	28
Table 8. Number of genes associated with the general COG functional categories in the MAG of <i>Nitrospira</i> sp. BO4.	e 29
Table 9. Pairwise ANI comparisons [% similarity] of the MAG <i>Nitrospira</i> sp. BO4 and selected comammox and canonical nitrite-oxidizing <i>Nitrospira</i> genomes. The OrthoANI were calculated by ANI calculator on the webpage ezbiocloud.net (3). The red frame indicates the ANI values related to <i>Nitrospira</i> sp. BO4 and the gree frame all in pure and enrichment culture cultivated comammox strains.	1 20 30
Table 10. Overview of the metabolic capacity of <i>Nitrospira</i> sp. BO4. Genes were found in the MAG of <i>Nitrospira</i> sp. BO4 or in the metagenome of the enrichment cultur Cmx-BO4 in IMG or by PCR with gene specific primers.	d e 32
Table 11. Primers used for quantification of ammonia and nitrite oxidizers in the DNA samples from the competition experiment.	56
Table 12. Conditions of cultivation of N. eutropha, Nitrosomonas sp. Is79 (pure) atNitrosomonas sp. Is79 + Pseudomonas sp. Is19 (coculture).	81

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Simplified model of Nitrogen cycle highlighting the nitrification process in re	ed. 2
Figure 2. Phylogenomic tree of the MAG of the enriched Nitrospira sp. BO4 with representative comammox and canonical Nitrospira strains.	24
Figure 3. Conversion of ammonium to nitrate via nitrite by and <i>amoA</i> copy number of <i>Nitrospira</i> sp. BO4 in the enrichment culture cmx-BO4 (mean ± SD, n=3).	34
Figure 4. Influence of the ammonium concentration on the growth rate of <i>Nitrospira</i> sp BO4 (means $\pm$ SD, n=3).	). 36
Figure 5. Influence of ammonium concentration [mM] on the lag phase [days] of the comammox strain Nitrospira sp. BO4 (mean $\pm$ SD, n=3-4).	37
Figure 6. Influence of ammonium concentration [mM] on the growth rate [day-1] of the comammox strain Nitrospira sp. BO4, the AOA strain AC2 and the AOB strain G 7 (mean ± SD, n=3-4).	e 5- 38
Figure 7. Influence of the initial pH on the growth rate of Nitrospira sp. BO4 (means ± SD, n=4).	40
<ul> <li>Figure 8. Influence of pH on the growth rate [day<sup>-1</sup>] of ammonia oxidizers. (A)</li> <li>Comammox strain Nitrospira sp. BO4 incubated in the presence of 0.1 mM and 0.</li> <li>mM ammonium (mean ± SD, n=3-4). (B) Comammox strain Nitrospira sp. BO4, the AOA strain AC2 and the AOB strain G5-7 (mean ± SD, n=3-4).</li> </ul>	.5 the 41
Figure 9. Influence of blue (470 ± 5nm) (A), white (5000-7000K) (B) and red (623 ± 3nm) (C) light on the growth rate of Nitrospira sp. BO4 (means ± SD, n=4).	43
Figure 10. Conversion of ammonium and nitrite by <i>Nitrospira</i> sp. BO4 (means ± SD, n=4). Cultures were incubated in the presence of 500 μM ammonium (A), 500 μM ammonium and nitrite (B) and 500 μM nitrite (C).	1 45
Figure 11. Growth rate of AOA-BO1 and Cmx-BO4 at different ammonium concentrations (average $\pm$ SD, n=3).	58
Figure 12. Ammonium consumption over time by AOA-BO1 (A) and Cmx-BO4 (B) cultures. The cultures were incubated in mineral salts medium (control) and in spe medium of AOA-BO1 and Cmx-BO4 (average + SD; n=3).	ent 59

Figure 13. amoA of AOA (AOA-BO1), Comammox (Cmx-BO4) and cyanase (NOB-BO1) gene abundance in batch culture competition experiments at initial ammoniu concentrations of 50 $\mu$ M (A and C) and 500 $\mu$ M (B and D) after 2 (A and B) and 4 (C and D) growth cycles (average $\pm$ SD, n=5).	um  - 61
Figure 14. Ammonium, nitrite and nitrate over time in the chemostats.	64
Figure 15. Ammonium, nitrite, and nitrate concentrations (A and B) and AOA-BO1 and cmx-BO4 <i>amoA</i> and NOB-BO1 <i>cyn</i> gene abundance (C and D) during competition between AOA-BO1 and cmx-BO4 for limiting ammonium. C	d n 65
Figure 16. Cmx-BO4 <i>amoA</i> to AOA-BO1 <i>amoA</i> ratio in chemostat E1 and E2 (A) and the biofilms in the chemostats (B).	in 67
Figure 17. Cmx-BO4 <i>amoA</i> to NOB-BO1 cyanase ratio in chemostat E1 and E2 (A), in the biofilms in the chemostats (B) and in batch culture (C).	68
Figure 18. AOA, AOB and cmx <i>amoA</i> gene abundance (copies/g sediment) in Lake Bu Oak. Samples were taken in June, August and November 2016 at the inflow, the middle, and the outflow of the Lake (n=15-18).	rr 70
Figure 19. Nitrite production by <i>Nitrosomonas</i> sp. Is79 at different ammonium concentrations (mean ± SD, n=3).	83
Figure 20. Nitrite production by <i>Nitrosomonas eutropha</i> at different ammonium concentrations (mean $\pm$ SD, n=3).	84
Figure 21. Nitrite production rates of (A) <i>Nitrosomonas</i> sp. Is79 and (B) <i>N. eutropha</i> at different ammonium concentrations (mean ± SD, n=3).	t 86
Figure 22. Nitrite production by <i>N. eutropha</i> at 5-, 100-, 400 mM ammonium only, 100 mM ammonium + 0.2 μM MV and 100 mM ammonium + 5 mM nitrite (mean ± S n=4).	) SD, 87
Figure 23. Nitrite production by Nitrosomonas sp. Is79 at 1-, 5-, 10 mM ammonium on 5 mM ammonium + 0.2 μM MV.	ly, 89
Figure 24. Nitrite production by <i>Nitrosomonas</i> sp. Is79 pure and <i>Nitrosomonas</i> sp. Is79 H19 coculture at 1-, 5- and 10 mM ammonium.	) + 91
Figure 25. Model figure summarizing findings of this dissertation.	95

# DEDICATION

I am dedicating this dissertation to all the strong women who dare to speak their opinions, make their own decisions, and live their lives on their own terms.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am grateful to Microbiology department of Miami University for enrolling me as a graduate student bringing me out of my comfort zone of my home country and putting me through the positive and negative experiences years making me a better person overall. I believe I have grown a lot at Miami University, and I owe respect and gratefulness grateful to the school.

I am grateful to Dr. Annette Bollmann taking me in her lab and for guiding me through my dissertation research. I have learned a lot from her. I am also grateful to her for inspiring me to present my research at conferences as well as to write research proposals. I would also like to thank my research committee Dr. Rachael Morgan-Kiss, Dr. Xin Wang, Dr. D.J. Ferguson and Dr. Michael J. Vanni for helping me with my research.

My friends at Miami have been there for me and I am so glad I met them all. A huge thanks to Madisen Kimbrel, she was my partner in crime and rock at rough times. Thank you, Mariah, Nathan, Isha, Jyoti, Shrameeta, Shasten for including me in your lives. Madisen, I have learned so much from you about life, I believe I will remember you every day for the different person you have inspired me to become.

I am grateful to my parents for wanting the best for me. I would not have a life I have today without you. And I need you forever.

I am grateful to my husband Chandra Mani Kafle who travelled with me through the journey of graduate school and made it enjoyable. I will forever cherish the memories of us working together for long hours at school.

I am grateful to my child Parth Kafle for letting me know what unconditional love feels like. Parth helped me figure out my priorities in life, made me feel so loved for who I am.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

## I. The Nitrogen cycle

The nitrogen cycle is the biogeochemical cycle where nitrogen flows through atmospheric, terrestrial, oceanic and biotic components in nature (1). Nitrogen cycle is comprised of multiple steps and interactions among various organisms in different environments (Figure 1). The nitrogen cycle can be divided into the following key steps:

#### a. Nitrogen fixation and anthropogenic nitrogen deposition

Approximately 78% of atmosphere is nitrogen gas which is biologically unavailable to most organisms because of its very stable nature (2). Nitrogen fixation is the process of converting atmospheric nitrogen to biologically available reactive forms of nitrogen such as ammonia (3, 4). Nitrogen fixation by bacteria in root nodules of leguminous plants is the biological method of nitrogen fixation, while lightning process is the physical method of nitrogen fixation. Human activities, such as the addition of nitrogenous fertilizers for agricultural practices can cause excess nitrogen deposition in the form of nitrogen oxides and ammonium (5). Nitrogen oxides and ammonium are either assimilated by living organisms or used for energy generation through respiration.

# b. Nitrification

The stepwise oxidation of ammonia to nitrite and then to nitrate is commonly termed as nitrification (6). In aerobic environments, nitrification is caused by ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (AOB) (7), ammonia-oxidizing archaea (AOA) (8), complete ammonia oxidizer (comammox) (9, 10) and nitrite-oxidizing bacteria (NOB) (7, 11). In the nitrogen cycle, the nitrification process connects the most reduced component, ammonium with the most oxidized component, nitrate (6). Nitrification is important for converting ammonium to nitrate, the preferred N substrate for assimilation by some plants and algae (12), decreasing pH as ammonium oxidation yields protons, production of greenhouse gas (N<sub>2</sub>O) (13), producing substrate for denitrification (14) and consumption of oxygen thereby creating oxygen-limited condition (15).



Figure 1. Simplified model of Nitrogen cycle highlighting the nitrification process in red.

#### a. Assimilation

Photosynthetic organisms like plants, algae, cyanobacteria, as well as some heterotrophic microbes assimilate ammonium, nitrite, nitrate or urea into specific tissue compounds in the form of organic molecules such as amino acids and nucleotides (16, 17). Heterotrophic organisms including animals, fungi and bacteria that cannot assimilate inorganic nitrogen acquire assimilated organic forms of nitrogen such as amino acids and nucleotides (18–20).

#### b. Denitrification and dissimilatory nitrate reduction

Denitrification is the process of the conversion of nitrate to nitrogen gas depleting the bioavailable form while returning it to the atmosphere (14). Nitrate ( $NO_3^-$ ) is reduced to nitrogen gas ( $N_2$ ) through a series of intermediate gaseous nitrogen oxides namely nitrite ( $NO_2^-$ ), nitric oxide (NO), nitrous oxide ( $N_2O$ ) by denitrifying heterotrophic bacteria such as *Pseudomonas* sp., *Comamonas* (21) and *Paracoccus denitrificans* (22). Denitrification is significant for i) loss of fertilizer from agriculture system and ii) production of greenhouse gas,  $N_2O$  (23). In addition, dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium (DNRA) is the anaerobic respiration using nitrate as the terminal electron acceptor producing ammonium (24). DNRA process helps recycle reactive forms of nitrogen preventing their loss from the ecosystem.

#### c. Anaerobic ammonia oxidation

Anaerobic ammonia oxidation is the conversion of ammonium to nitrogen gas in anaerobic environments using nitrate as the electron acceptor (25, 26). Anaerobic ammonia oxidizers (anammox) include a broad range of microbes in terms of biochemistry and taxonomy: from heterotrophs to autotrophs growing on hydrogen and carbon dioxide to photosynthetic microbes (27). Some examples of anaerobic ammonia oxidizers include *Candidatus* Kuenenia stuttgartiensis (28), *Candidatus* Brocadia anammoxidans (29), *Candidatus* Jettenia asiatica (30).

#### d. Mineralization

Nitrogen mineralization is the conversion of complex organic nitrogen compounds such as proteins, nucleic acids and amino acids to the inorganic form, ammonium (31). Nitrogen mineralization is caused by microbial and animal activity and extracellular enzymes such as protease, deaminase and urease (32). Mineralized nitrogen becomes available for assimilation by organisms capable of assimilating.

#### I. Aerobic ammonia oxidizers (AO)

Aerobic ammonia oxidizers (AO) comprise of ammonia-oxidizing archaea (AOA), ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (AOB) and complete ammonia oxidizer (comammox). Together these microbes play a role in the nitrification step of nitrogen cycle (7–10, 33, 34) (Fig. 1). The three groups of AO are phylogenetically and physiologically unique.

Ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (AOB) are chemolithotrophs that generate energy by oxidizing ammonium to nitrite for growth and metabolic activity (34). Based on 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity, AOB are divided into two monophyletic lineages: a) betaproteobacteria (beta-AOB) comprising Nitrosomonas (including Nitrosococcus mobilis) and Nitrosospira (including *Nitrosolobus* and *Nitrosovibrio*) and b) gammaproteobacteria (gamma-AOB) comprising Nitrosococcus oceani and Nitrosococcus halophilus (35). AOB possess an ammonia monooxygenase gene cluster, *amoCAB*, in one to three copies coding for the enzyme ammonia monooxygenase (34). AOB also possess an *amoC* singleton of unknown function (36). AOB acquire their organic carbon by assimilating inorganic carbon dioxide through the Calvin-Benson-Bassham (CBB) cycle in which carboxylation is catalyzed by ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase (RubisCO) enzyme (37). AOA also derive their energy by oxidizing ammonia to nitrite (38) and fix CO<sub>2</sub> by the 3-hydroxypropionate/4-hydroxybutyrate cycle (39). AOA belong to subphylum Thaumarchaeota including genera like Nitrosopumilus sp., Nitrosocaldus sp., Nitrosocosmicus sp. (40, 41). Complete ammonia-oxidizer (comammox) perform two-step oxidation of ammonium to nitrate through nitrite (9, 10). Comammox belong to the phylum Nitrospirae (42) and they fix their CO<sub>2</sub> by the reductive tricarboxylic acid (rTCA) cycle (9).

AO are distributed widely in all terrestrial and aquatic environments (43–46) with the exception of Comammox which have not been reported in open ocean water. Several studies have attempted to understand the niche differentiation of the AO. Here, I discuss what is known about the effect of environmental factors on AO which helps us better understand the nature of the microhabitat they occupy in nature.

#### **II.** Effect of environmental factors on ammonia oxidizer distribution and activity

#### a. Effect of ammonium concentration

The ammonium concentration is one of the most studied environmental factors affecting the distribution and microbial function of ammonia oxidizers. Two physiological phenomena determine the ammonium concentration range favorable for an ammonia oxidizer: i) the affinity of ammonia monooxygenase (AMO) enzyme of the AO to ammonia and ii) the critical concentration of ammonium above which ammonium is toxic/inhibitory to the AO (47). The two characteristics typically covary within a specific AO taxa or group. For example, AOB have comparatively low affinities for ammonia, and they grow well at higher ammonium concentrations compared to AOA and comammox (48). AOB Nitrosomonas eutropha is eutrophic with an optimum growth rate at 100 mM ammonium (Ghimire et al., unpublished). AOA and comammox have high affinity to ammonia and generally prefer to grow at low ammonium concentrations (48). Comammox enrichment Cmx-BO4 from freshwater Lake Burr Oak grows optimally through 10-25  $\mu$ M ammonium while its growth is inhibited above 50  $\mu$ M ammonium concentration (49). Candidatus Nitrososphaera gargensis, a moderately thermophilic AOA, has a higher ammonium requirement, as it is highly active at 0.14- and 0.79 mM ammonium and partially inhibited at 3.08 mM ammonium (50). Marine AOA Nitrosopumilus maritimus strain SCM1 has a very high affinity to ammonium concentration and can even oxidize ammonium  $\leq 10$  nM with an apparent (km (app)) for NH<sub>3</sub> of nearly 3 nM (38). Of all the analyzed ammonia oxidizers, AOA strains N. maritimus SCM1 and Candidatus Nitrosoarchaeum koreensis MY' (soil archaeon) have the highest affinity for ammonia followed by comammox Nitrospira inopinata and AOA Ca. N. koreensis AR' (marine archaeon) (48). N. inopinata has Km (app) for NH<sub>3</sub> of 49 nM (48). Interestingly, marine environments with ammonium concentrations from below detection limit (100 nmol/L) to 195 nmol/L ammonium concentrations (51) have never been reported to have comammox in ocean water (9) while they are abundant in coastal waters and sediments (43, 52, 53). A simulating competition between N. inopinata and non-marine AOAs Nitrososphaera gargensis and Nitrosospira sp. at low ammonium concentration predicts the comammox to outcompete the AOAs (48, 54), however, an actual competition experiment to investigate the which of the two oligotrphic groups of AO perform better in oligotrophic environments has not been published yet.

Ammonium is toxic in nature causing programmed cell death in plants and yeasts (55, 56), as well as stunting and chlorosis in plants (57). Hyperammonemia, a state of high ammonium in human serum causes irreversible brain damage (58). A correlation between high ammonium and oxidative and nitrosative stress is observed in mammalian and plant cells (59–61). High ammonium concentration is also inhibitory to the growth and activity of AO (47, 62).

AOB *Nitrosomonas eutropha* can tolerate up to 600 mM ammonium (47) compared to a lower ammonium tolerance of 10 mM ammonium in *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 (62). There is a gap of knowledge in why ammonium/ammonia is toxic to ammonia oxidizers at high concentrations.

#### b. Effect of pH

Ammonia and ammonium exist in a pH-dependent equilibrium (63). The fractions of unionized ammonia to ionized ammonium can be calculated by using equation: unionized ammonia (%) =  $100 (1 + 10^{(pKa-pH)})$ , in which pka=0.09108 + 2729.92(273.2 + Temperature) (64, 65). Hence, pH determines the availability of free ammonia and ammonium molecules. Ammonia can enter cells through diffusion without energy expenditure because of its uncharged nature while ammonium must be actively transported through cellular membranes with the use of energy (66). Uncharged ammonia form is the substrate for ammonia oxidation in Nitrosomonas europaea (67), which is a big disadvantage in acidic pH and ammonium environments since almost 99% of substrate is in the form of ammonium in most environmental conditions (68). Ammonia oxidation is reported in acidic, neutral as well as in alkaline environments (69) although cultivating acidophilic AO has remained a challenge because acidophilic AO live in aggregates with heterotrophs as a means of adaptation to low ammonium concentrations (70). AOA are the most dominant AO in acidic and alkaline environments (71-73). De Boer et al (1991) enriched AOA from soil with pH 4 (70) and Zhang et al (2012) detected AOA amoA but not AOB amoA in acidic agricultural soil (74). Cultivation of obligately acidophilic AOA Nitrosotalea sp. Nd2 and Nitrosotalea devanaterra Nd1 from acidic agricultural soil confirmed the existence of AO adapted to acidic environments (75). Neutrophilic AO are easier to cultivate and have been enriched and isolated widely. A comparative study of the effect of pH on freshwater AOA, AOB and comammox enrichments showed that the non-acidophilic enrichments perform ammonia oxidation through pH 6-8.5/9 (45, 49). However, the cultures described were enriched at pH 7.5 and this could have selected for neutrophilic AOA and comammox(45, 49). Ammonia oxidation activity also occurs at alkaline pH. For example, comammox *Nitrospira* sp. are present at extremely alkaline (pH 11) condition (76).

## c. Effect of temperature

Temperature is one of the major environmental factors affecting the growth of microorganisms (77). Temperature optima depends on the two factors: (i) increase in biochemical reaction rates with increase in temperature and (ii) denaturation of proteins

including energy deriving membrane proteins at high temperature (78). Understanding the effect of temperature on the activity of AO is important in sewage treatment as maintaining temperature can be energy demanding. Ammonia oxidation occurs in psychrophilic, mesophilic and thermophilic environments. Nakagawa et al (2007) observed ammonia oxidation at 4°C (79). Thermophilic AO from hot springs with temperature optima of 50°C and 46°C were observed by Lebedeva et al (80) and Hatzenpichler et al (50). Optimum temperatures for ammonia oxidation by *N. inopinata* and *Nitrososphaera gargensis* are 37°C and 46°C respectively (48), 42 °C for *N. viennensis* (81), and 46 °C for *Ca.* Nitrosotenuis uzonensis (80).

Most of the characterized AO are mesophilic in nature potentially because of the bias of temperature selection in the AO enrichment and/or isolation. A study on the effect of temperature on nitrification rates using a mixed culture of nitrifiers and heterotrophs from a livestock wastewater treatment plant in Yongin city, Korea showed that the optimum temperature for nitrification is 35°C (82). *Nitrosomonas* sp. from trickling filter effluent in Illinois had the optimum growth at 32°C (83). A study on the effect of temperature on AOA shows that at pH 4.5 and below, 20°C is the optimum temperature while at pH 5 and above, 30°C is usually the optimum temperature (84) showing a correlation between temperature and pH.

# d. Effect of light

Light sensitivity in ammonia oxidizers is of interest because it helps predict the depth at which AO habitat in terrestrial and aquatic environments, as light intensity and quality vary through the water column. Photoinhibition in AOB is the inhibition of activity of AOB in the presence of light. Photoinhibition in AOB *Nitrosomonas* sp. is targeted in the initial step of ammonia oxidation catalyzed by the enzyme ammonia monooxygenase. The oxygenated state of enzyme ammonia monooxygenase is sensitive to UV and is inactivated by the light of wavelength 400-430 nm (85). Photoinhibition is also observed in AOA and comammox (45, 49, 86, 87). The inhibitory effects of light on growth have been observed in many AO. The specific growth rates of AOB *Nitrosomonas europaea* and *Nitrosospira multiformis*, and AOA *Nitrosopumilus maritimus* and *Nitrosotalea devanaterra* were significantly reduced at both 15  $\mu E m^{-2} s^{-1}$  and 60  $\mu E m^{-2} s^{-1}$  of 400-680 nm wavelength spectrum (87). The growth rate of comammox enrichment Cmx-BO4 was also significantly inhibited by white light compared to its growth in the dark incubation and completely inhibited by blue light (470 ± 5 nm) (49). AOA enrichments AOA-AC2, AOA-AC5 and AOA-DW were also completely inhibited by blue light  $(470 \pm 5 \text{ nm})$  and they did not recover even after transferring them to dark incubation (45). Based on the studies yet, it is observed that AO are inhibited by light, particularly blue light. Of the nitrifiers, nitrite oxidizers are more sensitive than AO giving rise to a primary nitrite maximum (PMN) at the base of the euphotic zone in the ocean (86, 88). The effect of light on the activity of comammox is not well studied, except the photoinhibition observed in a comammox strain *Nitrospira inopinata* (86).

#### e. Effect of oxygen concentration

Ammonia oxidation is an oxidative process; hence AO require dissolved oxygen (DO) for their activity. However, like all aerobic microbes, AO should contend with intracellular oxygen potentially causing oxidative stress (Imlay, 2013). AOA *amoA* have been detected in very low DO environments such as activated sludge bioreactors (DO <  $6.3 \mu$ M) operated for simultaneous nitrification-denitrification (Park et al., 2006). AOA have also been detected in water columns of Pacific Ocean and Black Sea with DO < $3.1 \mu$ M and 1  $\mu$ M respectively (44, 89). A comprehensive study comparing abundance of AO in activated sludge at different DO saturation indicates comammox is more abundant than AOA at low DO conditions (90). Comammox are more dominant than AOB in low DO conditions which can be explained by the higher oxygen sensitivity, slower metabolism of comammox and higher DO demand of AOB for rapid ammonia oxidation (90). In another study, increasing oxygen concentration increased growth rate of AOB while the growth of AOA was unaffected which can be explained by high DO tolerance of both AOB and AOA and higher metabolism of AOB than AOA (45).

#### CONCLUSION

Abiotic factors determine the distribution and activity of AO. Aerobic AO are found everywhere except for comammox which have not been reported yet in open ocean waters. AOA and comammox are generally oligotrophic and are the dominant AO in oligotrophic environments. Although all three groups of AO are found in alkaline, neutral and acidic environments, AOA are the dominant AO in acidic environments. AO are inhibited by light, particularly blue light and are likely distributed at depths where light cannot penetrate. AOB are favored by high DO while AOA and comammox prefer low DO conditions. All three groups of AO are found through psychrophilic to thermophilic environments. AO are versatile and can perform their ecological function of ammonia oxidation at a wide variation of environmental conditions.

#### **DISSERTATION OVERVIEW**

In this dissertation, I describe the impact of environmental factors, particularly ammonium concentration on the activity and distribution of AO.

In **Chapter 1**, I characterized a freshwater comammox enrichment from Lake Burr Oak. Prior, comammox cultures were only characterized from bioengineered systems but not from natural environments. Comammox cultures from natural environments need to be characterized to elucidate the physiological potential of comammox. I investigated effect of environmental factors on the growth of comammox enrichment Cmx-BO4 as well as characterized metagenome assembled genome (MAG) of comammox *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 for its metabolic potential. The enrichment Cmx-BO4 is the first freshwater comammox to be characterized and fifth of all the characterized comammox enrichment cultures.

In **chapter 2**, I investigated the competition between comammox enrichment Cmx-BO4 and AOA enrichment BO1 in limited ammonium environments. Comammox and AOA are generally oligotrophic environments and it is not understood what happens to their abundance when the two are competing for ammonium. Competition for ammonium in chemostat and batch culture followed by quantification by qPCR was used as the method to investigate the competitive interaction between the two oligotrophic enrichments.

In **chapter 3**, I explored ammonium toxicity to AOB *Nitrosomonas* at high concentrations. High ammonium is toxic to AOB *Nitrosomonas* sp., however, the mechanism of high ammonium toxicity is not understood yet. I used growth experiments as the method to investigate the effect of ammonium concentration on the growth of *Nitrosomonas* sp. and RNA-seq to evaluate the effect of different ammonium concentrations on gene regulation of *Nitrosomonas* sp.

# **CHAPTER 1**

# Ecophysiological and genomic characterization of the freshwater complete ammonia oxidizer *Nitrospira* sp. BO4

This chapter was reproduced from the following research publication:

Ghimire-Kafle S, Weaver Jr ME, Bollmann A. Ecophysiological and Genomic Characterization of the Freshwater Complete Ammonia Oxidizer *Nitrospira* sp. Strain BO4. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2023 Feb 28;89(2):e01965-22.

Author contributions:

SG contributed to lab work, data evaluation and writing manuscript. MEW contributed to lab work and data evaluation. AB contributed to data evaluation, figure representation and writing manuscript. AB and SG edited the manuscript.

#### ABSTRACT

Complete ammonia oxidizers (comammox) are a group of ubiquitous chemolithoautotrophic bacteria capable of deriving energy from the oxidation of ammonia to nitrate via nitrite. Here, we present a study characterizing the comammox strain *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 using a combination of cultivation-dependent and molecular methods. The enrichment culture Cmx-BO4 was obtained from the sediment of Lake Burr Oak – a mesotrophic lake in eastern Ohio. The metagenome of the enrichment culture was sequenced, and a metagenomeassembled genome (MAG) was constructed for Nitrospira sp. BO4. The closest characterized relative of Nitrospira sp. BO4 was Candidatus Nitrospira kreftii. All genes for ammonia and nitrite oxidation, reductive TCA cycle and other pathways of the central metabolism were detected. Nitrospira sp. BO4 used ammonia and oxidized it to nitrate with nitrite as the intermediate. The culture grew on initial ammonium concentrations between 0.01 and 3 mM with the highest rates observed at the lowest ammonium concentrations. Blue light completely inhibited the growth of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4, while white light reduced the growth and red light had no effect on the growth. Nitrospira sp. BO4 did not grow on nitrite as its sole substrate. When supplied with ammonium and nitrite, the culture utilized nitrite after most of the ammonium was consumed. In summary, the genomic information of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 coupled with the growth experiments shows that Nitrospira sp. BO4 is a freshwater comammox. Future research will focus on further characterization of the niches of comammox in freshwater environments.

#### SIGNIFICANCE

Nitrification is a key process in the global nitrogen cycle. Complete ammonia oxidizers (Comammox) were discovered recently and only three enrichment cultures and one pure culture have been characterized with respect to activity and growth under different conditions. The cultivated comammox strains were obtained from engineered systems such as a recirculating aquaculture system and hot water pipes. Here, we present the first study characterizing a comammox strain obtained from a mesotrophic freshwater lake. In freshwater environments, comammox co-exists with ammonia-oxidizing archaea (AOA) and ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (AOB). Our results will help elucidate physiological characteristics of comammox, and the distribution and niche differentiation of different ammonia oxidizers in freshwater environments.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Nitrification is one of the key processes in the global nitrogen cycle (6, 41). During nitrification, microorganisms oxidize ammonia completely to nitrate. Until 2015 nitrification was assumed to be a two-step process. Ammonia is first oxidized to nitrite by ammonia-oxidizing archaea (AOA) or ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (AOB) (7, 91). In the second step, nitrite is further oxidized to nitrate by nitrite-oxidizing bacteria (NOB) (7, 11). The complete oxidation of ammonia to nitrate by one microorganism was theoretically proposed in 2006 and discovered several years later (9, 10, 92) refuting the long-held assumption that nitrification is a process carried out by two different microorganisms. The newly discovered complete ammonia oxidizers (comammox) are chemolithoautotrophic bacteria generating energy through the two-step oxidation of ammonia to nitrate via nitrite (9, 10).

Phylogenetically, all identified comammox bacteria belong to phylum *Nitrospirae*, while most AOB belong to the order *Betaproteobacteriales* and AOA belong to the *Thaumarchaeota* (7–10, 38, 93–95).

Comammox bacteria encode the ammonia monooxygenase (*amoCAB*), hydroxylamine dehydrogenase (*haoAB*) and nitrite oxidoreductase (*nxrAB*) genes required to oxidize ammonia completely to nitrate (9, 10, 93). The *amoCAB* gene cluster in comammox is unique but closely related to the *amoCAB* gene cluster in AOB, while *nxrAB* genes are homologous to the *nxrAB* genes in NOB *Nitrospira* (9, 10).

AOA, AOB and comammox in the environment can be detected using the ammonia monooxygenase subunit A (*amoA*) gene (43, 44, 96, 97). Comammox have been widely found in a variety of different environments such as a drinking water treatment plant (52), wastewater treatment plants (98, 99), aquaponics (100), soils (101–105), sediments and water column of freshwater lakes (102, 106, 107) and groundwater fed filters (108, 109). Interestingly, comammox have not been detected in open-ocean samples (43).

Controlling factors of nitrification and ammonia oxidation include but are not limited to ammonium availability, pH, oxygen availability and light (45, 110–112). Ammonium concentration impacts niche differentiation between AOA and AOB with most AOA growing at lower ammonium concentrations and having a higher affinity for ammonia, while AOB have a lower affinity for ammonia and grow better at higher ammonium availability (38, 45, 48). Direct competition for ammonium between AOA and AOB from freshwater resulted in AOA being successful at limiting ammonium and AOB being successful at higher ammonium availability (113).

Four different comammox strains have been characterized: *Nitrospira inopinata*, *Candidati* Nitrospira nitrosa, Nitrospira nitrificans and Nitrospira kreftii (9, 10, 93). Activity measurements showed that *Nitrospira inopinata* and *Ca*. Nitrospira kreftii have a high affinity to ammonia, which is in the same order of magnitude as the affinity of AOA, and a much higher than the affinity of most AOB to ammonia (48, 93). All characterized strains have been obtained from engineered/man-made systems: *Nitrospira inopinata* from a hot water pipe (9) and the other three strains from a recirculating aquaculture system (10, 93).

Here, we present a study combining cultivation-based and cultivation-independent methods to characterize the newly enriched comammox strain *Nitrospira* sp. BO4. This culture was enriched from the mesophilic Lake Burr Oak in Ohio. We determined the effect of different environmental conditions, such as ammonium, nitrite, pH and light on the growth of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4. In addition, we analyzed the MAG (metagenome-assembled genome) of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 to characterize the physiological capacity of newly enriched comammox culture.

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### **Materials**

Sediment samples were taken from the near-shore region of Lake Burr Oak in October 2009 (BO; 39°54'N, 82°06'W) and transported at 4°C to the laboratory. Lake Burr Oak is a manmade reservoir in the east of Ohio. The lake is mesotrophic and its watershed is 81% forest, 14% agricultural land and 5% other uses (114). Enrichment cultures were started within 1-2 days after sediment sampling.

#### Medium

Mineral salts (MS) medium with ammonium was used to enrich and cultivate the comammox strain (115, 116). MS medium contained 10 mM NaCl, 1 mM KCl, 1 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> \* 2H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.2 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub> \* 7H<sub>2</sub>O, and 1 ml liter<sup>-1</sup> trace elements solution (115, 116). The medium was buffered with HEPES in 4:1 molar ratio to the ammonium concentration except when stated otherwise. The pH of the media was adjusted before autoclaving to 7.5 - 7.8. Sterile KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> solution was supplemented to autoclaved MS media to obtain a final concentration of 0.4 mM. If not differently stated, all cultures were incubated in 50 mL media in 125-mL Erlenmeyer flasks with cotton stoppers.

#### Enrichment and cultivation of Nitrospira sp. BO4

Sediment samples (0.5 g) from Burr Oak Lake were inoculated in MS media supplemented with 0.25 mM ammonium and incubated at 27°C in dark. The ammonium concentration in the enrichment culture was regularly monitored. After the initial added ammonium was depleted, the culture was filtered through a 0.45- $\mu$ m membrane filter. The filtrate (5 ml) was transferred to a fresh MS medium (50 ml) with 0.25 mM ammonium. Filtering and transfer were repeated 5-6 times. After the initial enrichment, the culture was transferred to MS medium with 0.5 mM ammonium. Subsequent transfers to fresh medium were done every 4-6 weeks by inoculating 5 ml of the outgrown culture into 50 ml of fresh medium. Biomass for molecular analysis was collected by filtering the enrichment culture *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 through 0.1- $\mu$ m-pore-size polycarbonate filters. The filters were stored at -80°C.

#### **Growth experiments**

Growth experiments were performed to test the influence of ammonium, nitrite, pH and light on the growth of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 (45, 115). For all growth experiments, 50 mL of MS medium was inoculated with 10 % (v/v) (5 mL) late-log-phase culture and incubated in the dark at 27°C. Samples were taken at regular intervals and ammonium, nitrite and nitrate concentrations were measured. The influence of different ammonium concentrations was tested by incubating *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 in MS media with initial ammonium concentrations between 0.01 to 3 mM and the corresponding HEPES concentrations. The influence of the initial pH was determined in two different experiments A. MS medium with 0.5 mM ammonium and 2 mM HEPES was used, and the pH values were adjusted to pH 6 – 8.5. B. MS medium with 0.1 mM ammonium and 2 mM HEPES was used, and the initial pH values were adjusted to values between pH 3 and pH 9. The influence of light was tested by incubating the cultures above light panels which emitted 30 µmol photons m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>. Three different wavelengths of light were tested: white (5000-7000K), red (623 ± 3nm) and blue light (470 ± 5nm). The influence of nitrite was tested in the presence and absence of 0.5 mM ammonium with initial nitrite concentrations between 0.1- and 2 mM nitrite.

To calculate the growth rates, the nitrate concentrations were natural log (ln) transformed (log to the basis 2) and plotted against time. The growth rates were calculated from the slope (linear increase) of the ln-transformed nitrate concentrations over time. These calculations are based on the assumption that the nitrite and/or nitrate production of ammonia-oxidizing cultures

is correlated to their growth (45, 115, 117). The increase in the ln transformed nitrate concentrations was linear for several days (except for very low ammonium concentrations) and the correlation coefficients were always  $\geq 0.97$  and in most cases  $\geq 0.99$ .

## Cultivation for metagenomic analysis

*Nitrospira* sp. BO4 was cultivated in 2 L Erlenmeyer flasks in 1 L MS medium with 0.5 mM ammonium. When the ammonium was consumed, the biomass was collected by centrifugation  $(22000 \times g)$ .

# Determination of ammonium, nitrite, and nitrate

Ammonium and nitrite concentrations were determined as described in Bollmann et al., 2011 (115, 118, 119). The nitrate concentration was determined using Griess reagent after the removal of nitrite with sulfamic acid (120) and the reduction of nitrate to nitrite with vanadium chloride (121) (supplemental material).

#### **Molecular methods**

# **DNA** isolation

DNA was isolated from polycarbonate filters using the Qiagen DNeasy UltraClean Microbial Kit (Valencia, CA, USA) with the following modifications. Beads, 600 µl PowerBead solution and 100 µl Solution SL were added to the filters in a 2 ml screw cap tube. The filters were homogenized in a BioSpec Mini-Beadbeater-24 (BioSpecbead beater (Biospec Products, Inc., Bartlesville, OK) at 4800 rpm for 30 s. This procedure was repeated once. The samples were stored in-between for 10 min on ice. After bead beating the samples were treated following the manufacturer's recommendations.

High-quality genomic DNA for metagenome sequencing was isolated with Jetflex Genomic DNA Purification Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) according to the manufacturer's recommendations.

# PCR and qPCR

Standard PCR reactions were performed using GoTaq green master mix (Promega, Madison, WI) using primers presented in Table 1 and under conditions presented in Table 2. The *amoA* gene abundance in the *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 culture was determined using the Bioline SensiFAST SYBR NoROX Kit (Bioline USA, Taunton, MA, USA) in 5 µl reactions with 1 µl sample in an Illumina Eco Real-Time PCR system (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA) with initial denaturation at 95°C for 10 min, denaturation at 95°C for 10 sec and annealing at 52°C for 30 sec for 40 cycles (Table 1, Table 2). Standard curves were constructed using a plasmid containing the *amoA* gene of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4. The efficiency of the reactions ranged from 93.5% to 99.5% and  $R^2$  in all experiments was > 0.99.

# 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequencing

DNA from the enrichment culture Cmx-BO4 was amplified with barcoded primers targeting the V4 region of the 16SrRNA gene (515F-806R) (122, 123). The PCR product was sequenced on an Illumina MiSeq system at the Center for Bioinformatics and Functional Genomics (CBFG) at Miami University. The software package QIIME2 was used to analyze the 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequencing data (124). The sequences were imported into QIIME2, forward and reverse sequences were joined, and the sequences were quality controlled eliminating all sequences with QC scores below 30. The sequences were denoised with deblur and taxonomy was assigned using the Greengenes 13\_8 (97%) OUT database as reference.

# Sanger sequencing

PCR products were cleaned up with the Spin Column PCR Purification Kit (Amherst, NY) and sequenced with a BigDye Terminator cycle sequencing kit on an Applied Biosystems 3730xl DNA analyzer (Life Technology Corporation, Carlsbad, CA).

Table 1. Primers used in this study to amplify *amoA* and *nxrB* sequences. Data about PCR conditions and qPCR validation can be found in Table 2.

Target sequence	Primer pairs
Comammox amoA (97)	comaA-244F: 5'- TAY AAY TGG GTS AAY TA -3'
	comaA-659R:5'- ARA TCA TSG TGC TRT TG -3'
AOA <i>amoA</i> (44)	Arch amoA F: 5'-STA ATG GTC TGG CTT AGA CG-3'
	Arch amoA R: 5'-GCG GCC ATC CAT CTG TAT GT-3'
AOB amoA (96)	amoA-1F: 5'-GGG GTT TCT ACT GGT GGT-3'
	amoA-2R KS: 5'-CCC CTC KGS AAA GCC TTC TTC-3'
<i>nxrB</i> (125)	nxrB-19F: 5'- TGG CAA CTG GGA CGG AAG ATG -3'
	nxrB-1237R: 5'- GTA GAT CGG CTC TTC GAC CTG -3'
M13-cloning	M13-F: 5'-GTA AAA CGA CGG CCA G-3'
	M13-R: 5'-CAG GAA ACA GCT ATG AC-3'
qPCR amoA Cmx-BO4	BO4-F1 5'- CTG GTG CTG GAC ATC GTC TT -3'
(This study)	BO4-R12 5'- GTC CGA ACA TAC GCA AAG CC -3'

	Coma	AOA	AOB	nxrB	M13	Cmx-BO4
	amoA	amoA	amoA			amoA
Denaturation (initial)	95/120	95/300	95/180	95/180	95/120	95/600
Denaturation	95/30	95/45	95/30	95/30	95/60	95/10
Annealing	55/30	53/60	54/60	56/45	50/60	52/30
Extension	72/30	72/60	72/60	72/60	72/60	
Extension (final)	72/300	72/900	72/600	72/300	72/600	
Cycles	35	35	35	35	25	40
Melting curve						55°C -95°C
Efficiency [%]						93.5-99.5
<b>R</b> <sup>2</sup>						> 0.99
Concentration for						
calibration curve [copies per µl]						$170 - 1.7 \mathrm{x} 10^{-8}$

Table 2. PCR conditions (temperature [°C]/time [s]) for all PCR's and validation of Cmx-BO4 *amoA* qPCR of DNA samples.

## Sequence analysis

The sequences were edited with 4Peaks (<u>https://nucleobytes.com/4peaks/index.html</u>) and blasted against NCBI nucleotide database (nr/nt).

#### Library preparation for metagenome sequencing

The isolated DNA was quantified with the Qubit<sup>™</sup> dsDNA HS Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA). Five (5) µg DNA was mechanically sheared using the M220 Focused-ultrasonicator Instrument (Covaris, Inc., Woburn, MA) to get 400 bp DNA fragments. The sheared DNA fragments were size selected for 400 bp using the Blue Pippin DNA size selection system (Sage Science, Beverly, CA). The selected fragments were cleaned of impurities with ProNex® Size-Selective Purification System (Promega Corp., Madison, WI). The size distribution of the DNA fragments was analyzed with Agilent High Sensitivity DNA kit in Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer (Agilent Scientific Instruments, Santa Clara, CA). The Illumina MiSeq library was prepared using the NEXTflex<sup>™</sup> PCR-Free DNA Sequencing Kit (PerkinElmer, Inc, Waltham, MA).

# Sequencing of the metagenome

The DNA of the *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 enrichment culture was sequenced on the Illumina MiSeq system (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA) using MiSeq reagent kit v3 (150-cycle) at Center for Bioinformatics and Functional Genomics at Miami University (CBFG).

## Metagenome sequence analysis

Reads were demultiplexed in Illumina Basespace to obtain 22.7 million paired-end FASTQC reads of 2\*75 bp reads. Metagenome sequences were quality controlled, assembled, and binned into metagenome-assembled genomes (MAG) on KBase (The Department of Energy Systems Biology Knowledge Base) (126) (Workflow:

https://narrative.kbase.us/narrative/96801). Reads were quality controlled using Trimmomatic (v0.36). Sequence length ranged from 35-75 bp and no sequences were flagged as low-quality reads. The taxonomy of the quality-controlled reads was determined with Kaiju-v1.7.3 against NCBI BLAST nr database. The reads were assembled using metaSPAdes (v3.13.0), MEGAHIT (v1.2.9) and IDBA-UD (v1.1.3) and the quality of the assemblies was assessed by QUAST (v4.4). The metaSPAdes assembly had the highest quality and was binned with CONCOCT (v1.1), MaxBin2 (v2.2.4) and MetaBAT2 (v1.7). The bins were optimized with the DAS tool (v1.2) and the genome quality was assessed with CheckM (v1.0.18). Two high quality

(completeness > 95%; contamination < 5%) metagenome assembled genomes (MAG) were obtained. The assembled metagenome of the enrichment culture Cmx-BO4 and the MAG of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 were uploaded to the Integrated Microbial Genomes and Microbiomes system of the Department of Energy – Joint Genome Institute (DOE-JGI-IMG). The metagenome and the MAG were annotated through the IMG annotation pipeline and further analyzed in IMG (127).

# **Phylogenomic tree**

A phylogenomic tree including comammox and canonical nitrite oxidizing *Nitrospira* was constructed using the software package UBCG (128) (38). Whole genome sequences were obtained from NCBI genome database (Table 3). The OrthoANI similarities between selected genomes and *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 were calculated using the ANI calculator on the webpage ezbiocloud.net (129).

# Nucleotide sequence accession numbers

All sequence data were deposited at Genbank. The *amoA* and *nxrB* sequences were deposited under the accession numbers ON637246 and ON637247. The next generation sequencing data were deposited under the bioproject PRJNA838966. The assembly and binning are publicly available in KBase (https://narrative.kbase.us/narrative/96801) and the metagenome of the enrichment culture Cmx-BO4 and annotated MAG in the DOE-JGI-IMG database under the genome ID's: 3300039027 (metagenome) and 2868173055 (MAG).

# **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

# Enrichment of Nitrospira sp. BO4

Here we present a study investigating the growth and genomic potential of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 enriched from the sediment of Lake Burr Oak in Ohio. The enrichment was started by inoculating 1g sediment into 50 ml mineral salts medium (MS medium) with 0.25 mM ammonium. The culture was originally filtered through 0.45 µm filters when ammonium was

Table 3. Isolate identification and Genbank assembly accession numbers of the genomes used for the phylogenomic tree presented in Figure 2.

Strain	Genbank assembly accession number
Nitrospira defluvii	GCA_000196815.1
Nitrospira lenta BS10	GCA_900403705.1
Nitrospira moscoviensis NSP M-1	GCA_001273775.1
Nitrospira sp. RCB	GCA_005239475.1
Nitrospira sp. RSF3	GCA_005116835.1
Nitrospira sp. CG24E	GCA_002869895.2
Nitrospira inopinata ENR4	GCA_001458695.1
Candidatus Nitrospira nitrosa COMA1	GCA_001458735.1
Candidatus Nitrospira kreftii comreactor 17	GCA_014058405.1
Candidatus Nitrospira nitrificans COMA2	GCA_001458775.1
Nitrospira sp. SG-bin1	GCA_002083365.1
Nitrospira sp. RSF12	GCA_005116955.1

consumed to remove AOB because the culture was initially started as an enrichment culture for AOA (45, 115). The filtrate was transferred to fresh medium (5 ml filtrate into 50 ml medium). This process was repeated six times. Afterwards the culture was transferred to medium with 0.5 mM ammonium and kept as part of a larger culture collection of enrichment cultures. The enrichment cultures were transferred every 4-6 weeks to fresh medium by transferring 5 ml culture to 50 ml fresh medium. Between 2009 and 2011 DNA from the culture was isolated and amplified with AOA and AOB specific amoA primers (44, 96) to identify the dominant ammonia oxidizer without any results. After the publication of the papers by Daims et al., 2015 (9) and Van Kessel et al., 2015 (10), the culture was tested for the presence of comammox ammonia oxidizers. The identity of the comammox was determined by sequencing of the amoA gene. Blasting the DNA sequence of the *amoA* gene showed that *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 belonged to the comammox Nitrospira and was closest related to Candidati Nitrospira nitrosa (81% identity) and Nitrospira nitrificans (85% identity). Candidatus Nitrospira kreftii did not show up in the blast results and no match was detected when the *amoA* sequence was blasted against the genome of Candidatus Nitrospira kreftii in the NCBI database. The DNA of the ammonia oxidizing enrichment culture Cmx-BO4 was also amplified with AOA and AOB amoA primers (44, 96) but no PCR products were detected.

# Genome analysis

The metagenome of the enrichment culture Cmx-BO4 was sequenced, assembled, and binned with KBase. The MAG of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 was analyzed in IMG. The community composition of the enrichment culture Cmx-BO4 was assessed using 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequencing data and analysis of the metagenomic reads in KBase using Kaiju. *Nitrospira*-related reads represented more than 56-57% of the reads when analyzed with both methods (Table 4). Based on the 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequencing data other strains in the community included different *Alpha*- and *Betaproteobacteria* and *Bacteroidetes* (Table 4). No sequences related to AOA or AOB were detected in the 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequencing data.

Table 4. Community composition of the enrichment culture Cmx-BO4 based on 16S rRNA gene
amplicon sequencing and classification of the metagenomic reads in KBase using Kaiju.

Closest relative by	Phylum	Amplicon [%]*	Kaiju [%]	
BLAST search				
Nitrospira sp.	Nitrospirae	56	57.4	
Cupriavidus sp.	Proteobacteria - Betaproteobacteriales	10	2.5	
Bradyrhizobium sp.	Proteobacteria – Alphaproteobacteria	11	4.4	
Panacibacter sp.	Bacteroidetes	3	n.d.	
Hyphomicrobium sp.	Proteobacteria – Alphaproteobacteria	10	7.3	
<i>Methylocystaceae</i> bacterium	nm Alphaproteobacteria		n.d.	
<i>Flavitalea</i> sp.	Bacteroidetes	1	n.d.	
Unclassified			30.5	

\* Abundances above 1% of the overall community presented. n.d.: not detected.



Figure 2. Phylogenomic tree of the MAG of the enriched *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 with representative comammox and canonical Nitrospira strains. The scale bar represents 10.5% sequence divergence. The Genbank assembly accession numbers can be found in Table 3.

The taxonomic affiliation of nitrogen cycle related genes in the enrichment culture Cmx-BO4 was analyzed in KBase (Table 5). More than 90% of the genes involved in ammonia (*amoCAB, haoAB*) and nitrite oxidation (*nxrAB*) were classified into the *Nitrospirae*. Less than 1% of the ammonia oxidation genes and around 5% of the nitrite oxidation genes were classified into other groups while the rest of the genes were unclassified (Table 5).

The *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 MAG was assembled with SPAdes and binned with MetaBat and submitted to JGI-IMG for further analysis. The MAG was 95.85% complete and had 3.69% contaminations (Table 6). The genome size was 4,711,400 bp and 85.8% of the DNA coded for genes (Table 7). Overall, 4889 protein-coding genes were detected of which 3031 (61%) have a predicted function (Table 7, Table 8). A phylogenomic tree was constructed using the software package UBCG based on 92 bacterial core genes (128) (Figure 2) *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 belonged to comammox clade A. The genome of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 showed the highest similarity to the genomes of *Ca*. Nitrospira nitrificans (ANI: 78.2%) and *Ca*. Nitrospira kreftii (ANI: 76.8%) (Table 9). Of the comammox strains that are characterized in pure and enrichment cultures, the only isolated strain *Nitrospira inopinata* was the least related to *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 (ANI: 72.1%).

Gene	Nitrospirae	Other phyla	Unclassified
Ammonia monooxygenase subunit A (amoA)	89.7	0.4	9.9
Ammonia monooxygenase subunit B (amoB)	97.1	0.2	2.7
Ammonia monooxygenase subunit C (amoC)	93.4	0	6.6
Hydroxylamine dehydrogenase (hao)	90.3	0.2	9.4
Nitrate reductase / nitrite oxidoreductase subunit A ( <i>narG</i> , <i>nxrA</i> )	94.1	5.5	0.5
Nitrate reductase / nitrite oxidoreductase subunit B ( <i>narH</i> , <i>nxrB</i> )	92.1	5.0	2.9
Urease subunit gamma ( <i>ureA</i> )	55.7	8.4	36.0
Urease subunit beta ( <i>ureB</i> )	21.7	12.8	65.6
Urease subunit alpha ( <i>ureC</i> )	15.9	30.0	54.3

Table 5. Taxonomic affiliation [%] of selected nitrogen cycle genes detected in the metagenome of the enrichment culture Cmx-BO4 analyzed in KBase.
Nitrospira sp. BO4	SPAdes	MegaHit	IDBA
Assembly method			
Binning method	MaxBin, CONCUCT,	MaxBin, CONCUCT,	MaxBin, CONCUCT,
	MetaBat optimized	MetaBat optimized	MetaBat optimized
	by DASTool	by DASTool	by DASTool
Completeness [%]	95.85	95.85	95.85
Contamination [%]	3.69	3.69	3.69
GC content [%]	55.49	55.50	55.52
Genome size [bp]	4708985	4677486	4635384
# of contigs	30	57	104

Table 6. Overview over Nitrospira sp. BO4 MAG assembled in K-Base.

Attribute	Nitrospira sp. BO4 MAG
Genome size (bp)	4,711,400
DNA coding region (bp)	4,041,582
GC-content (%)	55.5
DNA scaffolds	31
Total genes	4961
RNA genes	62 (1.3%)
rRNA operons	1
tRNA genes	57 (1.2%)
Protein coding genes	4889 (98.6%)
Genes with function prediction	3031 (61.1%)
Genes assigned to COG's	2998 (60.4%)
Genes assigned Pfam domains	3143 (63.4%)
Genes with signal peptides	386 (7.8%)
Genes with transmembrane helices	1099 (22.2%)
CRISPR repeats	1

Table 7. Genome properties of the *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 MAG. Values in parentheses represent the percent (%) of total genes.

Code	value	%	Description
J	220	6.25	Translation, ribosomal structure, and biogenesis
А			RNA processing and modification
K	223	6.34	Transcription
L	154	4.38	Replication, recombination, and repair
В	1	0.03	Chromatin structure and dynamics
D	47	1.34	Cell cycle control, cell division, chromosome partitioning
Y			Nuclear structure
V	86	2.44	Defense mechanisms
Т	285	8.1	Signal transduction mechanisms
М	284	8.07	Cell wall/membrane/envelope biogenesis
N	107	3.04	Cell motility
Ζ	5	0.14	Cytoskeleton
W	48	1.36	Extracellular structures
U	75	2.13	Intracellular trafficking, secretion, and vesicular transport
0	196	5.57	Posttranslational modification, protein turnover, chaperones
С	244	6.94	Energy production and conversion
G	130	3.7	Carbohydrate transport and metabolism
Е	191	5.43	Amino acid transport and metabolism
F	67	1.9	Nucleotide transport and metabolism
Н	170	4.83	Coenzyme transport and metabolism
Ι	88	2.5	Lipid transport and metabolism
Р	188	5.34	Inorganic ion transport and metabolism
Q	72	2.05	Secondary metabolites biosynthesis, transport, and catabolism
R	366	10.4	General function prediction only
S	214	6.08	Function unknown
-	1963	39.57	Not in COG's

Table 8. Number of genes associated with the general COG functional categories in the MAG of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4.

Table 9. Pairwise ANI comparisons [% similarity] of the MAG *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 and selected comammox and canonical nitrite-oxidizing *Nitrospira* genomes. The OrthoANI were calculated by ANI calculator on the webpage ezbiocloud.net (3). The red frame indicates the ANI values related to *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 and the green frame all in pure and enrichment culture cultivated comammox strains.

	Nitrospira sp. BO4	Nitrospira inopinata	Ca. Nitrospira nitrificans	Ca. Nitrospira kreftii	Ca. Nitrospira nitrosa	Nitrospira lenta	Nitrospira moscoviensis	Nitrospira defluvii
<i>Nitrospira</i> sp. BO4	100							
Nitrospira inopinata	72.1	100						
<i>Ca</i> . Nitrospira nitrificans	78.2	72.4	100					
<i>Ca</i> . Nitrospira kreftii	76.8	70.9	77.0	100				
<i>Ca</i> . Nitrospira nitrosa	74.9	71.3	75.8	74.4	100			
Nitrospira lenta	72.0	71.5	71.6	70.7	70.5	100		
Nitrospira moscoviensis	72.6	73.1	72.8	71.6	71.6	73.3	100	
Nitrospira defluvii	69.4	70.0	70.0	69.5	69.3	70.7	71.3	100

#### Metabolic potential of Nitrospira sp. BO4

The complete set of genes for ammonia and nitrite oxidation were detected in the genome of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 (Table 10). The *amoA* gene could not be detected in the MAG of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 but was detected by PCR and found in the metagenome of the enrichment culture. Therefore, we assume that the *amoA* is present, but *amo* operon (*amoCAB*) could not be completely assembled. In addition, an *amoC* singleton and the genes for the copper binding and copper resistance protein (*copCD*) were detected in the MAG of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4. The genome contained one cluster of genes for hydroxylamine oxidation encoding the hydroxylamine dehydrogenase (*haoAB*), the cytochromes c554 and cm552 (*cycAB*) and the cytochrome c biogenesis proteins (*ccmABCDEFGHI*). The genome of *Nitrospira* sp BO4 encoded one cluster of the nitrite oxidoreductase subunits A and B (*nxrAB*) and four copies of the gamma subunit of the nitrite oxidoreductase (*nxrC*) (Table 10). Finally, copper containing nitrite reductase (*nirK*) was found in the genome of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4. A complete set of genes for urea metabolism (urease, urease accessory protein and ABC type urea transporter) were detected in the genome of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 indicating that this comammox strain could use urea as source for ammonium as shown for *Ca*. Nitrospira kreftii (93).

All genes for glycolysis, gluconeogenesis, oxidative and reductive TCA and pentose phosphate pathway were present in the genome of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4. The genome encoded the genes for the electron transport chain and an F-type ATPase. In addition, cytochrome P450, bacterioferritin, cupredoxin and plastocyanin were found in the genome of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 (Table 10). A variety of genes involved in defense against reactive oxygen species such as hydrogen peroxide and superoxides were detected in the genome of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 (Table 10). Transporters for inorganic ions such as iron (Fe<sup>3+</sup>) with and without siderophore, sulfate, phosphate and molybdate were found in the genome of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4. The genome also encoded an ammonium transporter (*amtB*). However, no transporter for nitrite and/or nitrate was detected.

The evaluation of the MAG of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 revealed no new genome features when compared to the genomes of other characterized comammox strains and enrichments such as *Nitrospira inopinata*, *Ca*. Nitrospira nitrificans, *Nitrospira nitrosa* and *Nitrospira kreftii* (9, 10, 48, 93).

Table 10. Overview of the metabolic capacity of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4. Genes were found in the MAG of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 or in the metagenome of the enrichment culture Cmx-BO4 in IMG or by PCR with gene specific primers.

Ammonia and nitrite metabolism	Genes			
Ammonia oxidation	amoCAB, amoC (single copy)			
Hydroxylamine oxidation	haoAB, cycAB			
Nitrite oxidation	nxrAB,			
Copper binding/resistance protein	copCD			
Cyt c-type biogenesis protein and heme exporter protein	ccmABCDEFGHI			
Nitrite reductase	nirK			
Urea metabolism				
Urease and urease accessory protein	ureABC, ureDFG			
Hydrogen metabolism				
Ni/Fe hydrogenase	hvd			
Central metabolism				
Glycolysis and gluconeogenesis	Genes for All enzymes			
TCA	Genes for All enzymes			
Reductive TCA (CO <sub>2</sub> fixation)	Genes for All enzymes			
Pentose Phosphate pathway	Genes for All enzymes			
Electron transport chain and ATP synthesis				
NADH-quinone oxidoreductase	nuoABCDEFGHIJKLM			
Succinate dehydrogenase	sdhABC			
Quinol cyt c reductase	present			
cyt bd ubiquinol oxidase	cydAB			
F-type ATPase	atpABCDEFGHIR			
ROS defense				
Catalase and peroxidases	present			
Superoxide dismutase	present			
Transporters				
ABC type sulfate transporter	<i>cysAPUW</i>			
ABC type phosphate transporter	pstABCS			
ABC type molybdate transporter	modABC			
ABC type Fe <sup>3+</sup> transporter	fbpABC			
ABC type Fe <sup>3+</sup> siderophore transporter	fepABCD			
ABC type urea transporter	urtABCDE			
Ammonium transporter Rh	amtB			
High affinity iron transporter	efeU			
Low affinity iron/copper permease	present			
Cobalt-zinc-cadmium efflux system	czcABC			

#### Growth of Nitrospira sp. BO4

Ammonium, nitrite and nitrate concentrations along with the abundance of the *amoA* gene were followed over time (Figure 3). The culture consumed ammonium while producing nitrate and a small amount of nitrite. The nitrite accumulation started when around half of the ammonium was consumed. When the ammonium was completely consumed, the nitrite concentration increased to 65  $\mu$ M and decreased again to 40  $\mu$ M. The copy number of the *amoA* gene increased while ammonium was consumed, and nitrate produced indicating that *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 was growing with ammonia as substrate.

In summary, the comammox strain *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 is the sole ammonia and nitrite oxidizer in the enrichment culture Cmx-BO4. No additional ammonia and nitrite oxidizers were detected in the 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequencing library (Table 4) or by amplification with archaeal or bacteria *amoA* primers and only a small percentage of functional genes did not cluster with comammox *amo*, *hao* and *nxr* (Table 5). Finally, residual nitrite was left in the culture (Figure 3) indicating that no canonical nitrite oxidizer that would consume nitrite is present in the culture.



Figure 3. Conversion of ammonium to nitrate via nitrite by and *amoA* copy number of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 in the enrichment culture cmx-BO4 (mean  $\pm$  SD, n=3).

#### Influence of environmental factors the growth of Nitrospira sp. BO4

We characterized the impact of different environmental factors on the growth of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4. Ammonium concentration varies in freshwater environments depending on the trophic state of the lake. The highest growth rate of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 was observed at the lowest ammonium concentration (0.01 mM) (Figure 4). The growth rate decreased with increasing ammonium concentrations and remained stable at ammonium concentrations above 0.05 mM. The lag phase was only one day at the lowest ammonium concentrations of 0.025 mM and increased to six days at the highest ammonium concentration of 3 mM (Figure 5) indicating that *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 needs to adapt to the higher ammonium concentrations. The closest characterized relative of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4, *Ca*. Nitrospira kreftii is inhibited by increasing ammonium concentrations (93). *Nitrospira inopinata* and *Ca*. Nitrospira kreftii have very low K<sub>m</sub> values for ammonia indicating their advantage over other ammonia oxidizers under low ammonium conditions (48, 93). The comparison of growth rates of representative AOA, AOB and comammox strains showed that the growth rate of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 were higher than the growth rates of AOA AC2 and AOB G5-7 at 0.01 mM and 0.025 mM ammonium (Figure 6).



Figure 4. Influence of the ammonium concentration on the growth rate of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 (means  $\pm$  SD, n=3). Ammonium concentrations are shown on a linear scale (A) and a logarithmic scale (B). The growth rate at 0.01 mM ammonium was determined in a separate experiment, is shown in a different color than the other data and not included in the statistical analysis. Different letters above the symbols (B) indicate significant differences between values determined by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey test (P < 0.01).



Figure 5. Influence of ammonium concentration [mM] on the lag phase [days] of the comammox strain *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 (mean  $\pm$  SD, n=3-4). Different letters above the symbols indicate significant differences between values determined by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey test (P < 0.01).



Figure 6. Influence of ammonium concentration [mM] on the growth rate [day-1] of the comammox strain *Nitrospira* sp. BO4, the AOA strain AC2 and the AOB strain G5-7 (mean  $\pm$  SD, n=3-4). Ammonium concentration is shown on a logarithmic scale. Data point at 10  $\mu$ M ammonium (BO4 comammox) was obtained in a separate experiment. (Data for G5-7 AOB and AC2 AOA were retrieved from French et al., 2012).

*Nitrospira* sp. B04 was enriched from the sediment of Lake Burr Oak. The average pH of samples taken from lake Burr Oak in the years 2007 and 2008 was 8.3 (130). Growth of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 was investigated at different pH values with initial ammonium concentrations of 0.1 mM ammonium. The highest growth rate was measured at pH 7.2, and slightly lower growth rates were detected at pH 6.3, 7.5 and 8 (Figure 7). No growth was observed at pH 3-5 and pH 9. The growth rates of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 were also measured in an initial ammonium concentration of 0.5 mM (Figure 8A) and compared to the growth rates of AOA AC2 and AOB G5-7 (Figure 8B). The growth rate of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 was lower than that of the AOB G5-7, regardless of the pH (Figure 8B). However, at pH 6.5 and pH 8.5 the growth rate of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 was higher than the growth rate of AOA AC2, while at a more neutral pH the growth rates of both cultures were almost the same. *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 is a non-acidophilic ammonia oxidizer and adapted to the ambient pH in its original environment of 8.3 (130, 131). This observation correlates with activity measurements showing that *Nitrospira inopinata* oxidizes ammonium with similar rates at pH values between 6.5 and 8.5 (54).



Figure 7. Influence of the initial pH on the growth rate of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 (means  $\pm$  SD, n=4). Different letters above the symbols indicate significant differences between values determined by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey test (P < 0.01).



Figure 8. Influence of pH on the growth rate  $[day^{-1}]$  of ammonia oxidizers. (A) Comammox strain *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 incubated in the presence of 0.1 mM and 0.5 mM ammonium (mean ± SD, n=3-4). (B) Comammox strain *Nitrospira* sp. BO4, the AOA strain AC2 and the AOB strain G5-7 (mean ± SD, n=3-4). All cultures were incubated at 0.5 mM NH4+. (Data for G5-7 AOB = and AC2 AOA were retrieved from French et al., 2012 (45)).

Light is known to be an inhibiting factor of growth of ammonia oxidizers (85, 132). We investigated the impact of white, red, and blue light with an intensity of 30 µmol photons  $m^{-2} s^{-1}$  on the growth of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4. Blue light completely inhibited the growth of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 (Figure 9A). In white light the growth rate of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 was lower than the control (Figure 9B) while no decrease of the growth rate was observed in red light (Figure 9C). This observation is similar to the results observed for the AOB-G5-7 and the AOA enrichment culture DW1 (45). The copper-containing ammonia monooxygenase of AOB is very sensitive to blue light through absorption of light by the oxygenated state of the enzyme (85, 132). It is very likely the ammonia monooxygenase of comammox *Nitrospira* is inhibited in a similar manner because the enzyme ammonia monooxygenase in AOB and comammox are very close related (9).



Figure 9. Influence of blue  $(470 \pm 5 \text{nm})$  (A), white (5000-7000K) (B) and red  $(623 \pm 3 \text{nm})$  (C) light on the growth rate of Nitrospira sp. BO4 (means  $\pm$  SD, n=4). Different letters of figure above the bars indicate significant differences between values determined by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey test (P < 0.01).

Complete ammonia oxidizers oxidize ammonia via nitrite to nitrate (9, 10). To test the influence of nitrite on the growth of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4, the culture was incubated in the presence of 0.5 mM ammonium alone, 0.5 mM nitrite alone and 0.5 mM of both compounds (Figure 10). The different media were inoculated with 10% (5 ml culture into 50 ml medium) of a late log phase culture. Ammonium alone was converted to nitrate with some nitrite being produced (Figure 10A). The ammonium consumption started after 5-6 days, and ammonium was completely consumed after around 3 weeks. When incubated in the presence of ammonium was used up after 2 weeks (Figure 10B). Nitrite consumption started after 1 week of incubation and was slower than the ammonium consumption. Nitrite was not completely consumed after 45 days of incubation (Figure 10B). The nitrite concentration remained constant over 45 days when the cultures were incubated only with nitrite indicating that nitrite alone was not oxidized to nitrate (Figure 10C).

*N. inopinata* can oxidize nitrite when an actively nitrifying culture is transferred to nitrite-only medium but it is not able to sustain nitrite oxidation activity after subsequent addition of nitrite (9). The authors assume N. inopinata can initially oxidize the nitrite with the residual nitrite oxidoreductase enzyme activity. Eventually, however, growth and activity cease because N. inopinata is missing the genes for the assimilatory nitrite reductase and the nitrite transporter two genes required for nitrite assimilation (9). Nitrospira sp. BO4 is also missing the assimilatory nitrite reductase and nitrite transporter for nitrite assimilation. In contrast to N. inopinata, Nitrospira sp. BO4 did not oxidize nitrite when inoculated into nitrite-only medium (Figure 10C). Nitrospira sp. BO4 was transferred in late-log phase and diluted 1:10 during inoculation (5 mL culture inoculated into 50 mL medium). We assume that the use of a diluted, late-log phase culture would diminish residual nitrite oxidoreductase activity, however, Nitrospira sp. BO4 continued to consume nitrite when incubated with ammonium and nitrite after the ammonium was completely consumed (Figure 10B). This nitrite consumption is very like due to residual activity of the nitrite oxidoreductase which is comparable to the nitrite oxidation observed by Daims et al (2015) (9) in N. inopinata. In summary, the experiments with *N. inopinata* and *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 were set-up differently, however, the observations for the two comammox strains were comparable. Both cultures were not able to assimilate and be metabolically active in the presence of nitrite as the only energy and nitrogen source.



Figure 10. Conversion of ammonium and nitrite by *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 (means  $\pm$  SD, n=4). Cultures were incubated in the presence of 500  $\mu$ M ammonium (A), 500  $\mu$ M ammonium and nitrite (B) and 500  $\mu$ M nitrite (C).

In addition, we detected 20 - 30  $\mu$ M of residual nitrite in our cultures. *N. inopinata* has a very low affinity to nitrite with a K<sub>m</sub> of 372 ± 55  $\mu$ M nitrite (48). If the affinity to nitrite of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 is in the same order of magnitude, *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 might not be able to use nitrite below the measured concentrations. In contrast, *Ca.* Nitrospira kreftii, *Nitrospira nitrosa* and *Nitrospira nitrificans* show a higher affinity to nitrite (10, 93). This higher affinity is very likely due to the presence of canonical nitrite oxidizes in the cultures, while no canonical nitrite oxidizer was found in the culture *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 (Table 4).

## CONCLUSIONS

To our knowledge *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 is the first described complete ammonia oxidizer from a freshwater environment. The growth rates under different environmental conditions were comparable to the growth rates of freshwater AOA and lower than the growth rates of freshwater AOB. Of the tested environmental factors, ammonium availability was the most important niche differentiating factor between the three different groups of ammonia oxidizers (Figure 4, Figure 6). High ammonium concentrations favored AOB, while lower ammonium concentrations favored AOA and even more comammox. This is in accordance with environmental surveys. Comammox have been found in a multitude of engineered systems such as drinking water treatment and distribution systems, wastewater treatment plants and aquaculture filtration systems (108, 109, 133–136). The ammonium availability in all these systems was generally low. *N. inopinata* and *Ca.* Nitrospira kreftii have a high affinity to ammonium enabling them to live under conditions with low ammonium availability (48, 93). In summary, these results indicate that complete ammonia oxidizers are well adapted to exist at low ammonium concentrations. Future research will investigate how freshwater comammox compete with AOA and AOB under nutrient limiting conditions for ammonium and which strains are most successful.

## **CHAPTER 2**

# Competition between ammonia-oxidizing Archaea and complete ammonia oxidizers from freshwater environments

Sabita Ghimire-Kafle, Matt E. Weaver Jr., Madisen P. Kimbrel and Annette Bollmann

We are planning to submit chapter 2 to the journal of Applied and Environmental Microbiology.

Author contributions:

MEW initiated experimental design with the help of AB and SG and contributed to lab work and data evaluation. MPK contributed to lab work. SG and AB contributed to lab work, data evaluation, figure representation and editing manuscript.

### ABSTRACT

Aerobic ammonia oxidizers (AOs) are prokaryotic microorganisms which contribute to the global nitrogen cycle by performing the first step of nitrification. Nitrification is the oxidation of ammonium to nitrite and nitrate. While aerobic AOs are globally ubiquitous, their distribution is controlled by key environmental conditions, in particular, substrate (ammonium) availability. Ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (AOB) are generally adapted to higher ammonium concentrations while ammonia-oxidizing archaea (AOA) and complete ammonia oxidizers (comammox) are generally found in environments with lower ammonium availabilities. AOA and comammox are both found in oligotrophic environments but it is not understood how they interact within their microhabitat. We assessed competition for ammonium between an AOA and a comammox from freshwater Lake Burr Oak. The AOA enrichment culture BO1 contained Nitrosoarchaeum sp. as AOA (AOA-BO1) and a canonical NOB Nitrospira sp. (NOB-BO1). The comammox enrichment BO4 (Cmx-BO4) contained the comammox strains Nitrospira sp. BO4. Competition experiments were performed either in continuous cultivation with  $< 1 \mu M$ ammonium or in batch cultivation with 50 µM and 500 µM ammonium. Regardless of ammonium concentration, Cmx-BO4 outcompeted AOA-BO1 under all tested conditions. The dominance of Cmx-BO4 may be related the ability of comammox to yield more energy through the complete oxidation of ammonia to nitrate as well as their utilization of a more efficient carbon fixation pathway - the reductive TCA cycle. These predictions are supported by higher abundance (3.5-fold) of comammox relative to AOA in the sediments of Lake Burr Oak.

# **IMPORTANCE**

Nitrification is a key process in the global nitrogen cycle. Aerobic ammonia oxidizers (AOs) play a central role in the nitrogen cycle by performing the first step of nitrification. Ammonia-oxidizing archaea (AOA) and complete ammonia oxidizers (comammox) are the dominant nitrifiers in environments with low ammonium availability. There is a lack of understanding on whether AOA and commamox truly coexist in low ammonium sediments which is necessary to understand the niches of AOA and comammox. Here, we present the first study characterizing a competition between freshwater AOA and comammox under varying substrate concentrations. Our results contribute to delineating the microniches of the key nitrifiers in oligotrophic freshwater sediments.

### **INTRODUCTION**

Nitrification is a critical step of the nitrogen cycle linking the most reduced form of inorganic nitrogen – ammonia – with the most oxidized form – nitrate (6). Nitrifiers are prokaryotic chemolithoautotrophic microorganisms that derive their energy through oxidation of either ammonia to nitrite or nitrite to nitrate. In aerobic environments, nitrification is carried out by ammonia-oxidizing archaea (AOA), ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (AOB), nitrite-oxidizing bacteria (NOB) and complete ammonia oxidizers (comammox). AOA and AOB oxidize ammonia to nitrite only and NOB oxidize nitrite to nitrate only; however, comammox can catalyze both steps in one cell (7–10, 33, 34, 137). NOB and comammox oxidize nitrite to nitrate with the enzyme nitrite oxidoreductase (NXR) (9–11). Each group of the ammonia oxidizers has a phylogenetically distinct ammonia monooxygenase (AMO) that can be used as phylogenetic marker for ammonia oxidizers (9, 10, 44, 96). Unfortunately, the nitrite oxidoreductases of comammox and NOB cannot be phylogenetically distinguished and therefore not suitable to use as a phylogenetic marker to distinguish comammox and canonical nitrite oxidizers (9, 10, 135). Each group of ammonia oxidizers has a unique pathway to fix inorganic CO<sub>2</sub> for their carbon requirement. AOA, AOB and comammox fix CO<sub>2</sub> by 3-Hydroxypropionate pathway, Calvin-Benson-Bassham (CBB) cycle, and reductive Tricarboxylic cycle (rTCA), respectively (10, 11, 37, 39, 138).

Ammonia oxidizers are distributed ubiquitously in both terrestrial, aquatic and engineered ecosystems. The ecological niches of the different ammonia oxidizers are a function of a variety environmental factors such as ammonium concentration, pH, salinity, levels of organic matter and metals, humidity, nitrification inhibitors, light and temperature (45, 49, 139– 152). Ammonium is the energy substrate of all three groups of ammonia oxidizers and each group exhibits different substrate affinity, which is a major driving factor for distribution of ammonia oxidizers. While most AOB have a rather low affinity to ammonium, AOA and comammox have a higher affinity to ammonium (9, 48, 93). AOB dominate high ammonium environments such as municipal and industrial wastewater treatment plants, eutrophic coastal environments, as well as freshwater and nutrient-rich soils in coherence with their low affinity AMO enzymes (146, 153, 154). Before the discovery of comammox, the dominant ammonia oxidizers in oligotrophic environments like the open ocean, oligotrophic freshwater environments and unfertilized natural soils were AOA (146, 155, 156). After the discovery of

50

comammox in 2015, comammox were reported to be the dominant ammonia oxidizers in some oligotrophic environments such as drinking water treatment plants (157), full scale waste water treatment plants (158), tertiary wastewater treatment plants (52, 159), forest soils (160) and agricultural soils (102). AOA and comammox have been detected together in several oligotrophic environments, including agricultural soils (102, 160), freshwater recirculating aquaculture systems (133) and subtropical forest soil (161).

Both AOA and comammox have a high affinity for ammonium and both groups of AO are detected in nutrient poor environments. The oligotrophic nature of AOA and comammox raises the question how AOA and comammox respond to limiting amounts of ammonium and if this response would result in competition or coexistence. Competition between different nitrifiers under limiting energy substrates have been investigated in the past. Such competition experiments have generally shown that the strains with the higher affinity for their substrate were more successful under substrate limiting conditions and the strains with the higher growth rates were more successful when the substrate was present in excess (113, 162–165). Here we investigate the competition between AOA and comammox under limiting (continuous culture) and excess ammonium (batch culture) conditions. We used two enrichment cultures from Lake Burr Oak in Ohio – Cmx-BO4 which contains the comammox strain *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 (49) and AOA-BO1 which contains the AOA strain *Nitrosoarchaeum* sp. BO1 and the canonical NOB *Nitrospira* sp. BO1 (Bollmann et al., in prep). The competition experiments between the two oligotrophic ammonia oxidizers will contribute to an understanding of the distribution of ammonia oxidizers in nutrient-limited environments.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Medium

Mineral salts medium (MS) containing 10 mM NaCl, 1 mM KCl, 1 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>. H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.2 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O and 1 ml per liter of trace elements solution was used for cultivation and competition experiments (115). For all experiments in batch cultures, HEPES was added as buffering agent. At ammonium concentrations of 0.1 mM and below, HEPES was added at a final concentration of 1 mM and at all other ammonium concentrations, the molar ratio of ammonium to HEPES was 1:4. Before autoclaving, pH of the MS medium was adjusted to 7.5-7.7 by adding 1M NaOH and after autoclaving, a sterile phosphate solution was added to obtain a final concentration of 0.4 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>.

#### Cultures

Two cultures were enriched from the sediment of mesotrophic Lake Burr Oak in Burr Oak State Park, Eastern Ohio. The comammox enrichment Cmx-BO4 contains *Nitrospira* sp. BO4, a comammox nitrospira that is closest related to *Candidatus* Nitrospira kreftii and *Nitrospira nitrificans* and was recently described (49).

The AOA enrichment AOA-BO1 contains ammonia-oxidizing archaeal strain *Nitrosoarchaeum* sp. BO1 and was enriched following the same protocol as used for the enrichment of other AOA (45, 113). AOA-BO1 is closest related to *Nitrosoarchaeum koreensis* MY1 (166). The enrichment culture AOA-BO1 also contains a canonical NOB from the genus *Nitrospira* sp (Bollmann et al., in prep). Both cultures were transferred every four to six weeks to fresh MS medium with 0.5 mM ammonium.

#### Sediment sample collection

Sediment samples (0.7 g) were taken from the top 1 cm of sediment cores from Lake Burr Oak (Kimbrel et al., in prep). Before sampling the cores were used for a three-day experiment to measure the denitrification in the sediments (167).

### Growth experiments at different ammonium concentrations

Detecting growth of AOA and comammox at low ammonium concentrations (below 25  $\mu$ M ammonium) can be difficult. To calculate growth rates at low ammonium concentrations, it is advantageous to observe 2 - 3 divisions of the microorganisms. In this experiment, we adjusted the cell density that would enable the culture to divide around three times before the substrate was fully consumed. The pre-culture for this experiment was grown in MS medium with 0.5 mM ammonium. The ammonium concentrations in the growth experiment ranged from 0.01 mM to 1 mM. Medium with 0.5 mM ammonium was inoculated with 10% of the pre-culture. The inoculum size for the other ammonium concentrations was adapted accordingly. For example, 0.05 mM ammonium was inoculated with 0.5 mL pre-culture in 50 ml of medium.

Nitrite and nitrate production by the ammonia oxidizers was monitored over time. Growth rates were calculated based on the assumption that the production of nitrite and nitrate is correlated to the growth of ammonia oxidizers (45, 49, 115, 117). The growth rates were calculated as slope of the log transformed nitrite and nitrate concentration over time. The slope was linear over several days and the  $R^2$  was  $\geq 0.98$  and in most cases even  $\geq 0.99$ .

## **Continuous-culture competition experiment**

Continuous-culture competition experiments between AOA-BO1 and Cmx-BO4 were performed in chemostats (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany). Two chemostats of vessel volume 5 liters each were, filled with 3 liters of unbuffered MS medium with 0.5 mM ammonium and autoclaved. The temperature was set to 27°C, stirring to 50 rpm and the medium was bubbled with sterile air with a rate of 500 ml/min. The pH was adjusted to 7.3-7.7 using 2% (wt/vol) Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> solution. The chemostats were inoculated with 500 ml of late logarithmic cultures of AOA-BO1 and Cmx-BO4, respectively. Ammonium, nitrite and nitrate in the chemostats were measured daily. As the cultures started to consume ammonium, agitation was increased stepwise from 50 to 250 rpm and kept at 250 rpm throughout the experiment. When the cultures had consumed approximately 80% of the initial ammonium concentration, MS medium with 0.5 mM ammonium was added to the chemostats at a flow rate of 1.6 ml/min. The flow rate was decreased step wise to 0.5 ml/min as the starting flow rate was too high. After both of the cultures reached a steady state, 800 ml of each culture was removed from the each chemostat and inoculated into the other chemostat creating a 1:6 and 6:1 ratio of AOA-BO1 and Cmx-BO4 (vol/vol) in the two chemostats. Samples for molecular analysis were collected by filtration (0.1µm polycarbonate filters, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) on a regular basis before and after mixing and stored at -80°C for further analysis. The two chemostats E1 and E2 were run 41 and 49 days after mixing, respectively. Chemostat culture competition experiment was performed to investigate competition for ammonium between AOA-BO1 and Cmx-BO4 at very low ammonium concentration ( $<10 \mu$ M).

## **Batch culture competition experiment**

AOA-BO1 and Cmx-BO4 cultures were grown in MS medium with 0.5 mM ammonium until late logarithmic phase. The two cultures were mixed in a 1:1 ratio (vol/vol). Single cultures (AOA-BO1 and Cmx-BO4) and the mixed culture were inoculated into 50 mL of MS media. The inoculum size varied with initial ammonium concentration: MS medium with 0.05 mM ammonium was inoculated with 0.5 ml cultures and MS medium with 0.5 mM ammonium was inoculated with 5 ml culture. The cultures were incubated in the dark at 27°C and ammonium concentrations were monitored twice a week. After approximately 80% or more of ammonium was consumed in all cultures, 5 ml of the cultures was transferred into 50 ml fresh media with the same ammonium concentrations. The cultures were transferred three times. Samples were collected for molecular analysis after the second and fourth growth cycles by filtering the cultures onto 0.1 µm polycarbonate membrane filters, which were stored at -80°C until molecular analysis. Batch culture competition experiment was performed to investigate the competition between AOA-BO1 and Cmx-BO4 at ammonium concentrations higher than in chemostat.

#### Spent media experiment

AOA-BO1 and Cmx-BO4 cultures were grown in 500 ml of MS medium with 0.5 mM ammonium at 27°C. Spent medium was produced by filtering the outgrown cultures through 0.1µm Millipore Express® PLUS Membrane Filters (Thomas Scientific, NJ, USA). The spent media from AOA-BO1 (SM\_BO1) and Cmx-BO4 (SM\_BO4) were supplemented with ammonium to reach a final concentration of 0.5 mM, the pH was readjusted to 7.5-7.7 and medium (45 ml) was distributed into 125-mL Erlenmeyer flasks. Mineral salts medium with 0.5 mM ammonium was used as control. Spent medium of each culture and the mineral salts medium controls were inoculated with 5 ml of late log phase culture of AOA-BO1 and Cmx-BO4, respectively. The cultures were incubated in the dark at 27°C and ammonium, nitrite and nitrate concentrations were measured regularly. Spent media experiment was performed to investigate if the AOA-BO1 and/or Cmx-BO4 secreted inhibitory or stimulatory substances in the media affect the growth of the other AO

## **Chemical analysis**

Ammonium, nitrite and nitrate were measured using colorimetric assays (49, 115, 121).

## **Molecular analysis**

**DNA isolation**. DNA was extracted from the filters and sediment using the Fast DNA spin kit for soil (MP Biomedicals, Solon, OH.

**Quantitative PCR (qPCR)**. The *amoA* gene of Cmx-BO4 and AOA-BO1 was used to quantify the abundance of the ammonia oxidizers in the cultures and the AOA-*amoA*, AOB-*amoA* and comammox-*amoA* genes were used to quantify the ammonia oxidizers in the sediment samples (Table 11). The standards for the qPCR were prepared by cloning PCR products of the respective primer pairs.

The abundance of canonical NOB *Nitrospira* sp. in the enrichment culture AOA-BO1 was quantified using the cyanase gene (Table 11). The metagenome of AOA-BO1 showed that the genome of the canonical NOB *Nitrospira* sp. encoded the cyanase gene (Bollmann et al., in prep) while the comammox strain *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 doesn't encode a cyanase gene (49)

allowing differentiation of NOB from AOA-BO1 and Cmx-BO4 in mixed cultures. The standard for the cyanase gene was prepared by amplifying the gene with the primer cynF1 and cynR5, which resulted in a 310 bp PCR product. The PCR product was cleaned, quantified and used as standard for the qPCR. The newly designed primers cyn-F3 and cyn-R3 were used to quantify the cyanase gene. These primers amplify a162 bp PCR product from the standards. The qPCR reactions were performed using Bioline SensiFAST SYBR NoROX kit (Bioline USA, Taunton, MA, USA) in 5-µl reaction mixtures with 0.5-µl samples in an Illumina Eco real-time PCR system (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA) with primers in the Table 11. The efficiencies of qPCR reactions ranged from 90-115% and the correlation coefficients were >0.98 in all reactions. At very low concentrations or in the complete absence of the template for each of the primer pairs, some unspecific amplification was observed. Melting curves showed different melting patterns for those PCR products compared to the standards and samples with high abundance of the targeted genes. Data from those samples with unspecific amplification were omitted. Table 11. Primers used for quantification of ammonia and nitrite oxidizers in the DNA samplesfrom the competition experiment.

Target gene	Sequence
AOA-BO1 amoA	BO1-F1 5'- GCT TTG CGT AGG TGC AAC AT -3'
	BO1-R1 5'- ACA AGT ACG CCT CCA AAC AGT -3'
Cmx-BO4 <i>amoA</i> (49)	BO4-F1 5'- CTG GTG CTG GAC ATC GTC TT -3'
	BO4-R12 5'- GTC CGA ACA TAC GCA AAG CC -3'
Cyanase of Nitrospira sp. BO1	cyn-F1 5'-AGA AGG TGA CGA TTG CCG AG -3'
	cyn-R5 5'-GGC TTC CGG TCA CTT TTT CC-3'
	cyn-F3 5'-CGA CGA AGC CAG AAA AGT CG-3'
	cyn-R3 5'-CTG TTC TCG CAT CGA ATC GC-3'
AOB <i>amoA</i> ((96)	amoA-1F, 5'-GGG GTT TCT ACT GGT GGT-3'
	amoA-2R KS, 5'-CCC CTC KGS AAA GCC TTC TTC-3'
AOA amoA (44)	Arch amoA F, 5'-STA ATG GTC TGG CTT AGA CG-3'
	Arch amoA R, 5'-GCG GCC ATC CAT CTG TAT GT-3'
Comammox amoA (168)	comamoA F (5'-AGGNGAYTGGGAYTTCTGG-3')
	comamoA R (5'-CGGACAWABRTGAABCCCAT-3')

### RESULTS

#### **Enrichment of AOA-BO1**

AOA-BO1 was enriched from the sediment of Lake Burr Oak in MS medium with 0.25 mM ammonium as energy source and without the addition of carbon. The enrichment culture stoichiometrically oxidized ammonium to nitrate. Based on the sequence similarity of the *amoA* gene, the ammonia oxidizer in the AOA-BO1 enrichment culture is closest related to *Nitrosoarchaeum koreense* MY1 (98.76 % identity), an AOA isolated from garden soil (166). The culture also contains a nitrite oxidizer belonging to the genus *Nitrospira* and heterotrophic bacteria.

# Influence of ammonium on the growth of AOA *Nitrosoarchaeum* sp. BO1 and Comammox *Nitrospira* sp. BO4

The growth of AOA-BO1 and Cmx-BO4 were characterized at different ammonium concentrations by cultivating both cultures in MS media with ammonium concentrations between 10  $\mu$ M and 1 mM. This growth experiment has been conducted differently than previous growth experiments (45, 49, 113, 115) (material and methods section because the large inoculum size of the old experimental design made it often difficult to determine the growth rates at very low ammonium concentrations. The growth rates of AOA-BO1 were higher than those of Cmx-BO4 through 25- to 500  $\mu$ M but were only significantly different at some of the ammonium concentrations (Figure 11). At 10  $\mu$ M and 1000  $\mu$ M ammonium AOA-BO1 and Cmx-BO4 grew at similar rates (Figure 11).

Growth experiments were performed to analyze if either of Cmx-BO4 or AOA-BO1 secreted stimulatory or inhibitory substances to the media that would influence the growth of the other ammonia oxidizer. AOA-BO1 and cmx-BO4 were grown in regular MS media (control) and spent medium of AOA-BO1 and Cmx-BO4, respectively. The ammonium consumption by AOA-BO1 and Cmx-BO4 in spent media was similar to the ammonium consumption in regular MS media (Figure 12, Figure 13) indicating that both cultures are not excreting substances that have an inhibitory or stimulatory effect on the other ammonia oxidizers.



Figure 11. Growth rate of AOA-BO1 and Cmx-BO4 at different ammonium concentrations (average  $\pm$  SD, n=3). Different letters above the symbols indicate significant differences between values determined by one-way ANOVA followed by the Tukey test (P <0.01).



Figure 12. Ammonium consumption over time by AOA-BO1 (A) and Cmx-BO4 (B) cultures. The cultures were incubated in mineral salts medium (control) and in spent medium of AOA-BO1 and Cmx-BO4 (average  $\pm$  SD; n=3).

#### Competition at intermediate and high ammonium concentrations

AOA-BO1 and Cmx-BO4 were cultivated as mixed batch cultures in MS medium with 50 and 500  $\mu$ M ammonium to investigate their competition at intermediate and high ammonium concentrations. When the ammonium in the media was consumed, each of the cultures was transferred to fresh medium with the same ammonium concentration. Transfers were repeated three times. After the second and fourth growth cycles, the relative abundance of AOA-*amoA* and Cmx-*amoA* were quantified (Figure 13). Cmx-BO4 was dominant in all mixed cultures after 2 and 4 growth cycles in the presence of either 50 or 500  $\mu$ M ammonium (Figure 13). AOA-*amoA* was only detected in 500  $\mu$ M ammonium after 2 growth cycles, but its abundance was lower than that of Cmx-*amoA* by 5 orders of magnitude but does not cause competitive exclusion of AOA (Figure 16). Canonical NOB *Nitrospira* sp. (NOB-BO1) *cynase* was detected in the mixed cultures in low abundances around 1000 – 10000 copies/ml (Figure 13).



Figure 13. amoA of AOA (AOA-BO1), Comammox (Cmx-BO4) and cyanase (NOB-BO1) gene abundance in batch culture competition experiments at initial ammonium concentrations of 50  $\mu$ M (A and C) and 500  $\mu$ M (B and D) after 2 (A and B) and 4 (C and D) growth cycles (average  $\pm$  SD, n=5).

#### Competition between AOA and comammox under limiting ammonium concentrations

Continuous cultures were used to conduct competition experiments with ammonium as growth-limiting substrate. Chemostats were inoculated with AOA-BO1 (Chemostat E1) and cmx-BO4 (Chemostat E2), respectively Figure 14, Figure 15). AOA-BO1 consumed the provided ammonium within 15 days (Figure 14A). When the pumps were initially started at a rate of 1.2 ml/min, ammonium accumulated indicating that AOA-BO1 was not able to grow as fast as the dilution rate in the chemostat. The dilution rate was decreased to 0.5 ml/min and AOA-BO1 completely oxidized ammonium to nitrate with no detectable nitrite (Figure 14A, Figure 15). Under the same conditions, in chemostat E2, cmx-BO4 oxidized ammonium to nitrate with some residual nitrite (Figure 14B, Figure 15B). Cmx-BO4 needed around 20 days until most of the ammonium was consumed. When the pumps were started at a flow rate of 0.8 ml/min ammonium addition, the ammonium concentration increased indicating that the growth rate was too high for Cmx-BO4. The dilution rate was decreased to 0.5 ml/min and Cmx-BO4 converted most of the ammonium to nitrate (Figure 14B), with  $30 - 50 \mu$ M of nitrite remaining.

After 8 weeks, both chemostats had reached steady state conditions and the cultures were mixed by transferring 800 ml from one chemostat to the other chemostat. Ammonium consumption in chemostat E1 which was initially inoculated with AOA-BO1 stopped after the addition of cmx-BO4 (Figure 14, Figure 15). The pumps were stopped for 15 days until the cultures had consumed the ammonium completely. On day 15 the pumps were started at 0.1 ml/min and the flowrate was increased over the next 10 days to 0.45 ml/min. Ammonium was consumed and completely converted to nitrate without any detectable nitrite. There was no interruption of the ammonium consumption in chemostat E2 after mixing the cultures. Prior to mixing, around 30  $\mu$ M nitrite was detectable in chemostat E2 which was consumed within 10 days after mixing and no nitrite was no longer detectable (Figure 14, Figure 15).

Prior to mixing, the abundance of the AOA-BO1 *amoA* gene was approximately 10<sup>9</sup> copies/ml in chemostat E1 while the abundance of the cmx-BO4 *amoA* gene in chemostat E2 was around 10<sup>8</sup> copies/ml. The NOB-BO1 *cyn* gene was detected with an abundance of 10<sup>7</sup> copies/ml in chemostat E1 showing that AOA-BO1 was growing in a co-culture with NOB-BO1. No NOB *cyn* genes were detected in cmx-BO4 (49). Mixing AOA-BO1 and cmx-BO4 resulted in the presence of all three organisms in both chemostats: AOA-BO1, cmx-BO4 and NOB-BO1.
In chemostat E1 the AOA-BO1 *amoA* abundance was approximately  $10^9$  copies/ml after mixing the cultures. The AOA-BO1 *amoA* abundance decreased to  $10^5$  copies/ml at the end of the experiment after 49 days. The cmx-BO4 *amoA* abundance in the chemostat E1 was  $10^7$ copies/ml directly after mixing and decreased to  $10^4$  copies/ml within the first few days after mixing. At the same time the ammonium concentration increased indicating that the ammonia oxidizers were inactive. Therefore, the pumps were stopped until day 15. Over time ammonium consumption started again and the abundance of cmx-BO4 increased. When the pumps were started again the abundance of cmx-BO4 increased over time while the abundance of AOA-BO1 decreased. At the end of the experiment cmx-BO4 was more abundant than AOA-BO1. The abundance of the NOB-BO1 *cyn* gene decreased to around  $10^7$  to  $10^5$  copies/ml but increased again when ammonium consumption started again. At the end of the experiment the abundance of NOB-BO1 was around  $10^4$  copies/ml.

In chemostat E2 the abundance of the cmx-BO4 *amoA* gene decreased to  $10^7$  copies/ml and stayed stable for the rest of the experiment (Figure 15D). The abundance of the AOA-BO1 *amoA* gene decreased rapidly and at the end of the experiment, where roughly 1000 copies/ml were detectable. The abundance of the NOB-BO1 *cyn* gene decreased to around  $10^5$  copies and remained stable until the end of the experiment (Figure 15D). At the same time the nitrite in the culture was completely consumed (Figure 15B).



Figure 14. Ammonium, nitrite and nitrate over time in the chemostats. Chemostat E1 was inoculated with the culture AOA-BO1 and chemostat E2 with the culture cmx-BO4. The cultures were started as batch cultures and the pumps were started when the ammonium was almost completely consumed. The cultures were mixed at time point 0.



Figure 15. Ammonium, nitrite, and nitrate concentrations (A and B) and AOA-BO1 and cmx-BO4 *amoA* and NOB-BO1 *cyn* gene abundance (C and D) during competition between AOA-BO1 and cmx-BO4 for limiting ammonium. Chemostat E1 was inoculated with AOA-BO1 and chemostat E2 with cmx-BO4. The cultures were grown as single cultures and mixed on day 0.

#### **Biofilms in chemostats**

Long-term experiments with ammonia oxidizers in chemostats often result in the formation of biofilms on the glass walls of the chemostats (165). Biofilms were detected and harvested in chemostat E1 at the air-liquid interface, in the middle of the vessel and at the bottom of the vessel and at the bottom of the vessel of chemostat E2. Abundances of AOA-BO1, cmx-BO4 and NOB-BO1 in the biofilm samples were determined. However, the absolute numbers of the three nitrifiers had no real meaning because they could not be related to volume or area. Therefore, the ratio between mx-BO4 and AOA-BO1 was calculated to determine if the same ammonia oxidizer was dominant in the biofilm and in the culture liquid (Figure 16B). In chemostat E1, AOA-BO1 was dominant in the biofilm at the bottom of the chemostat, while in the middle and at the top Cmx-BO4 was dominant. In chemostat E2 cmx-BO4 are also dominant in the biofilm. The ratios between Cmx-BO4 and AOA-BO1 were always lower in the biofilm than in the culture liquid (Figure 16) indicating that the proportion of AOA-BO1 was higher in the biofilms than in the liquid culture. AOA may be able to avoid competition with comamnox by forming a biofilm on the walls of chemostat.

#### Comammox vs canonical nitrite oxidizers

After mixing the cultures in the chemostats and in batch culture for the competition experiments, all cultures contained cmx-BO4 and NOB-BO1, two strains that can oxidize nitrite. The ratios of the cmx-*amoA* to cyanase were calculated to get an insight into the possible contribution of cmx-BO4 and NOB-BO1 to nitrite oxidation (Figure 17). The highest ratios between cmx-BO4 and NOB-BO1 were observed in the batch cultures (Figure 17C) while the lowest ratio was detected in the biofilms (Figure 17B). The chemostats had around 10-50 times lower cmx-*amoA* to cyanase ratio than the batch incubations, indicating that NOB-BO1 contributed more to the nitrite oxidation in the chemostats than in the batch cultures (Figure 17A, Figure 17C).



Figure 16. Cmx-BO4 *amoA* to AOA-BO1 *amoA* ratio in chemostat E1 and E2 (A) and in the biofilms in the chemostats (B).



Figure 17. Cmx-BO4 *amoA* to NOB-BO1 cyanase ratio in chemostat E1 and E2 (A), in the biofilms in the chemostats (B) and in batch culture (C).

#### Abundance of ammonia oxidizers in the sediment of Lake Burr Oak

The abundance of AOA, AOB and comammox was determined in the sediment of Lake Burr Oak as part of a project analyzing the microbial community of two freshwater reservoirs in Ohio (Kimbrel et al, unpublished). Comammox was the most abundant, while AOA were the least abundant ammonia oxidizer in the sediment of Lake Burr Oak (Figure 18).

#### DISCUSSION

When the enrichment cultures AOA-BO1 and cmx-BO4 were cultivated as mixed cultures competing for ammonium in chemostats and in batch cultures, the abundance of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 was several orders of magnitude higher than the abundance of *Nitrosoarchaeum* sp. BO1 under all tested conditions (Figure 13, Figure 15). This observation indicates that *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 can outcompete *Nitrosoarchaeum* sp. BO1 under limiting and elevated ammonium concentrations. Interestingly, *Nitrosoarchaeum* sp. BO1 grew faster than *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 in growth experiments determining the growth rate at different ammonium concentrations (Figure 11).

Competition experiments between different nitrifiers were often described by r and K selection or oligotrophic and copiotrophic lifestyles, respectively (113, 162, 163, 165). r and k selection theory states that under nutrient-limited condition, a slow growing species with higher affinity to substrate outcompetes the faster growing species with a lower affinity to the substrate (169). Factors that can determine if competing microorganisms would be classified as r- and Kstrategists or oligo- and copiotrophs include but are not limited to affinity to the substrate and growth rate (169, 170). AOA and comammox generally have a higher affinity to ammonium than AOB (48, 93). Nitrosoarchaeum sp. BO1 is closest related to Nitrosoarchaeum koreensis MY1, which has a K<sub>m</sub> for ammonia of 5 nM NH<sub>3</sub> (54). The K<sub>m</sub> for ammonia of N. inopinata is 30-40 nM NH<sub>3</sub> and 40 nM NH<sub>3</sub> for Candidatus Nitrospira kreftii (48, 54, 93). Based on these literature data the affinity of the AOA used in this study was almost one order of magnitude higher than the affinity of comammox. This observation indicates an advantage for comammox in this competition experiment. The growth rates of Nitrosoarchaeum sp. BO1 and Nitrospira sp. BO4 at 50 µM ammonium (elevated ammonium concentrations) were not significantly different, but the growth rate of *Nitrosoarchaeum* sp. BO1 was higher than the growth rate of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 (Figure 11). At 500 µM ammonium both cultures had the same growth rate (Figure 11).



Figure 18. AOA, AOB and cmx *amoA* gene abundance (copies/g sediment) in Lake Burr Oak. Samples were taken in June, August and November 2016 at the inflow, the middle, and the outflow of the Lake (n=15-18). All data for each ammonia oxidizers were summarized to give a general insight into the abundance of the different microorganisms. Different letters indicate significant differences determined by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey test (P < 0.01).

Therefore, the main characteristics that were used in the past to determine if a microorganism belonged to r- or K-strategists or the oligotrophic/copiotrophic group were contradictory to the outcome of to the competition between *Nitrosoarchaeum* sp. BO1 and *Nitrospira* sp. BO4. These observations raise the question what physiological advantages *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 has over *Nitrosoarchaeum* sp. BO1 enabling the former to outcompete the latter.

*Nitrospira* sp. BO4 yields more energy per molecule of ammonia than *Nitrosoarchaeum* sp. BO1 because comammox yields energy from complete oxidation of ammonium to nitrate through nitrite ( $\Delta G^{0}$ , = -348.9 kJ/mol) while AOA oxidize ammonia to nitrite only ( $\Delta G^{0}$ , = -274.7 kJ/mol) (8–10, 38, 92). Kinetic theory predicts that comammox would have a lower maximum growth rate than other ammonia oxidizers but a higher yield due to the additional step in the oxidation of ammonium to nitrate (92). *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 and *Nitrosoarchaeum* sp. BO1 have different carbon fixation pathways, namely the reductive citric acid cycle (reductive TCA) and 3-hydroxypropionate pathway, respectively (39, 49). The reductive TCA cycle requires 2 Ferredoxin, 3 NAD(P)H and 2 ATP while 3-hydroxypropionate cycle requires 7 NAD(P)H and 9 ATP to fix 3 CO<sub>2</sub>/HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> (171, 172). The ability to gain more energy per molecule ammonia and the lower energy requirements for carbon fixation of comammox could be important factors to explain the dominance of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 under ammonia limited and elevated conditions.

*Nitrospira* sp. BO4 was dominant in most of the biofilms, apart from the biofilm in chemostat E1 at the bottom of the vessel. While *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 took over both chemostats, *Nitrosoarchaeum* sp. BO1 decreased slower in chemostat E1 than in chemostat E2 (Figure 15C, Figure 15D). This slower decrease in chemostat E1 could be due to constant feeding of *Nitrosoarchaeum* sp. BO1 from the biofilm into the culture liquid. Future experiments will focus on the impact of surfaces for attachment on the outcome of competition experiments between different ammonia oxidizers.

The comammox have been reported to be the most abundant AO in several environments (52, 157, 158). The freshwater lake Burr Oak sediment samples also has comammox as the most abundant AO. The abundance of comammox is approximately 3.5-fold higher than that of AOA (Figure 18). This suggests that the result from this in vitro competition experiment may apply in vivo in the natural environment as well. A higher abundance of comammox have been observed in oligotrophic environments like agricultural soil and biofilter sand samples (102, 133). The

acidic subtropical forest soil, in contrast had a higher abundance of AOA than comammox, however the pH of the soil could have affected the distribution of ammonia oxidizers (161). These observations indicate that comammox are the more robust AO in oligotrophic environments in non-acidic environments.

Before mixing, the NOB *Nitrospira* sp. BO1 was only detected in the enrichment culture AOA-BO1 (Figure 13). Cmx-BO4 did not contain a canonical nitrite oxidizer (49) (Figure 13, Figure 15C). The abundance of *Nitrospira* sp. BO1 decreased after mixing of the two enrichment cultures AOA-BO1 and cmx-BO4 in the chemostats and in batch culture (Figure 13, Figure 15C, Figure 15D). In a co-culture with AOA or AOB, NOB can use all the nitrite produced by the ammonia oxidizer as energy substrate (7, 11). The comammox strain *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 only produces a very small amount of nitrite while most of the ammonia is oxidized to nitrate (49) (Figure 15B). Therefore, the abundance of *Nitrospira* sp. BO1 decreased when the comammox strain *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 outcompeted *Nitrosoarchaeum* sp. BO1 in the different competition experiments. The NOB *Nitrospira* sp. BO1 was able to use the low levels of nitrite present in the enrichment culture Cmx-BO4 because canonical nitrite oxidizers have a higher affinity to nitrite than comammox strains (48, 93).

The ratio between the copy number of the *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 *amoA* gene and the *Nitrospira* sp. BO1 cyanase gene was higher in batch cultures than in continuous cultures indicating that the relative abundance of *Nitrospira* sp. BO1 is higher in the continuous culture than in batch culture (Figure 17). In contrast, in the chemostat competition experiment, nitrite is produced constantly by *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 (Figure 15B) resulting in a constant supply of nitrite to *Nitrospira* sp. BO1 and an equilibrium between the comammox and the canonical nitrite oxidizer in the chemostats (Figure 15, Figure 17). This relationship and its impact on the nitrite oxidation by comammox and canonical nitrite oxidizers will be investigated in more detail in the future.

#### CONCLUSION

Comammox *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 outcompeted AOA *Nitrosoarchaeum* sp. BO1 in competition experiments at low and elevated ammonium concentrations. *Nitrospira* sp. has a higher yield from ammonia oxidation than *Nitrosoarchaeum* sp. BO1 because of the ability of the former to perform complete oxidation of ammonia to nitrate through nitrite while the latter only oxidizes ammonia to nitrite. Comammox *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 also has energetically more

efficient carbon fixation pathway, reductive TCA cycle, compared to 3-hydroxypropionate pathway in *Nitrosoarchaeum* sp. Hence, comammox may be the dominant ammonia oxidizers in Lake Burr Oak which is supported by higher abundance of commamox compared to AOA in the sediments of Lake Burr Oak. Comammox are also the dominant AO in several other oligotrophic environments. In summary, comammox may be playing the major ecological function of ammnonia-oxidation in oligotrophic environments. Future research will investigate the role of nitrite oxidizers in oligotrophic environments.

### Chapter 3

### Underlying mechanism of high ammonium-toxicity in ammonia-oxidizing bacteria.

Sabita Ghimire and Annette Bollmann

#### ABSTRACT

Ammonium in elevated concentrations is toxic to all domains of life. High ammonium toxicity is also observed in AO as indicated by a decrease in the growth rate of AO with increasing ammonium concentration. However, the mechanism of ammonium toxicity in AO is not yet understood. In mammalian cells, there is a correlation between high ammonium and an increase in oxidative and nitrosative stress. We investigated the underlying mechanism of high ammonium toxicity in ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (AOB) Nitrosomonas sp., high-ammonium toxicity of which is environmentally relevant in eutrophic environments. *Nitrosomonas* spp., within cluster 6a (eg: Nitrosomonas sp. Is79) are less tolerant to ammonium than Nitrosomonas cluster 7 (eg: N. eutropha). Tolerance of Nitrosomonas sp. Is79 to ammonium concentration can be enhanced by co-cultivation with the heterotroph Pseudomonas sp. H19 in a coculture. Here, we investigate i) the effect of high ammonium on Nitrosomonas sp. Is79 and N. eutropha and ii) the role of heterotroph Pseudomonas sp. H19 on relieving ammonium toxicity on Nitrosomonas sp. Is79. Through growth experiments, we determined ammonium was toxic to N. eutropha and Nitrosomonas sp. Is79 at 400 mM and 10 mM respectively. To study the response of Nitrosomonas sp. to high ammonium, cluster 6a Nitrosomonas sp. Is79 (pure and a coculture) and N. eutropha were cultivated at low, intermediate and high ammonium concentrations and their gene expression will be assessed through RNA-seq.

#### SIGNIFICANCE

Ammonia oxidizers (AO) are chemolithoautotrophs that generate energy through oxidation of ammonia to nitrite and/or nitrate. Of the aerobic ammonia oxidizers, ammoniaoxidizing bacteria (AOB) is adapted to grow at high ammonium e.g., in eutrophic environments while ammonia-oxidizing archaea (AOA) and complete ammonia oxidizers (comammox) are adapted to grow at low ammonium e.g., in oligotrophic environments. Understanding high ammonium toxicity in AO helps predict the distribution of AO in an environment with known ammonium concentrations.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

All forms of life require nitrogen. Autotrophs like plants, algae and bacteria fulfil their nitrogen requirement by assimilating inorganic forms of nitrogen like ammonium or nitrate. When both ammonium and nitrate are present, plants prefer ammonium over nitrate because uptake and assimilation of ammonium requires less energy than the usage of nitrate as nitrogen source (173). Most heterotrophs acquire nitrogen in organic forms such as amino acids and nucleotides (18–20).

Above certain concentrations, ammonium has been recognized to be toxic to all domains of life including plants and algae (174–177). High ammonium causes stunting and chlorosis in plants (57). An increase of the ammonium chloride (NH4Cl) concentration in media from 50 to 100 µM decreased the growth rates of oeanic phytoplankton (178). High ammonium in human serum causes irreversible brain damage in early childhood leading to cognitive impairment, seizures and cerebral palsy (58). Ammonium toxicity was first linked to an uncoupling effect in phosphorylation eliminating ATP synthesis by abolishing proton gradient across chloroplast and mitochondria (179), however, this theory was later disproved (180). Recent studies on the toxicity of ammonium in plants and mammalian cells have shown a correlation of ammonium toxicity with increased oxidative and nitrosative stress (59-61). Oxidative stress is a condition when a biological system loses a balance between production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and the ability of the system to detoxify the ROS (181). ROS - superoxide, hydrogen peroxide and hydroxyl radicals – are highly reactive molecules which cause harm to cells and tissues by oxidizing biomolecules like amino acids and lipids and causing cell damage or death (182–184). Superoxide  $(O_2^-)$  molecules combine with nitric oxide (NO) to form Reactive Nitrogen Species (RNS) peroxynitrite anion (ONOO<sup>-</sup>). Peroxynitrite anion are potent RNS causing nitration of several biomolecules such as proteins, lipids, and DNA, resulting in lipid peroxidation, DNA strand breaks, cell membrane damage, enzyme inactivation and activation of signal cascades of cell death (185).

Ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (AOB) are chemo-lithotrophic microorganisms that utilize ammonium as an electron donor to generate energy as well as assimilate ammonium to biomass. High ammonium concentrations are toxic to AOB despite their ability to oxidize ammonium as supported by a decrease in growth rate of AOB at high ammonium concentrations (62). All aerobic AO: ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (AOB), ammonia-oxidizing archaea (AOA) and complete ammonia oxidizer (comammox) show a similar phenomenon - they can only oxidize ammonium within a certain concentration range. Within the AOB, the genus *Nitrosomonas* is divided into different clusters (94). Members of cluster *Nitrosomonas* cluster 7 (relatives of *Nitrosomonas eutropha*) are more tolerant to increasing ammonium concentrations, than members of Nitrosomonas cluster 6a (relatives of *Nitrosomonas oligotropha*) (47, 62). *N. eutropha* has the highest growth rates at ammonium concentrations  $\geq$  5 mM while *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 has highest growth rates at  $\leq$  1 mM ammonium (62). It is not understood what mechanism causes high ammonium toxicity in AOB and why some strains of *Nitrosomonas* sp. are more tolerant to ammonium than the others.

Presence of specific heterotrophic bacteria improve the growth rate of AOB and decrease the half-saturation constant of growth (K<sub>s</sub>) of the AOB (186). Specifically, *Pseudomonas* sp. H19 increased the growth rates of the AOB *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 by 60%. Proteins involved in oxidative stress response were also reduced in *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 by the presence of the heterotrophic bacteria indicating a role of the heterotroph in overcoming oxidative stress (186). Recent publications indicated a correlation between oxidative stress and ammonium toxicity (59–61). There is a knowledge gap if the heterotroph *Pseudomonas* sp. H19 helps reduce oxidative and nitrosative stress caused by high ammonium in *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79.

Here, we assessed if high ammonium concentration toxicity in AOB is correlated to an increase in oxidative and nitrosative stress, as seen in other life systems (59–61). We also investigated why some strains of *Nitrosomonas* sp. are more tolerant of ammonium than others and if heterotrophic bacteria alleviate oxidative and nitrosative stress associated with high ammonium in AOB. To answer these research questions, we grew the AOB *N. eutropha*, *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 in pure culture and N*itrosomonas* sp. Is79 in a co-culture with *Pseudomonas* sp. Is19 at different ammonium concentrations and will sequence the transcriptome. We will compare the differential expression of all genes, with a focus on genes related to oxidative and nitrosative stress to investigate the effect of high ammonium on the gene expression of AOB. We will also analyze the effect of the heterotrophic bacterium in the co-culture to determine if heterotrophic bacteria change the effect of high ammonium concentrations on the physiology of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Medium

Mineral salts medium (MS) containing 10 mM NaCl, 1 mM KCl, 1 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>. H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.2 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O and 1 ml per liter of trace elements solution was used for cultivation and competition experiments (115). For growth experiments, pH of media was buffered by adding 10 mM and 20 mM HEPES buffer for 2.5- and 10 mM ammonia oxidation by *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 (pure and coculture) and *N. eutropha* respectively (115). Before autoclaving, the pH of the MS medium was adjusted to 7.5-7.7 with 1M NaOH and after autoclaving, separately autoclaved phosphate solution was added to obtain a final concentration of 0.4 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>.

#### Cultures

*Nitrosomonas eutropha* C91, originally isolated from sewage disposal plant in Chicago, IL, USA (Koops et al., 1991), is a eutrophic AOB. The genomic features of *N. eutropha* have been characterized by Stein et al., (2007). A pure culture of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 and coculture of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 + *Pseudomonas* sp. Is19 were obtained from an ammonia-oxidizing enrichment from the sediment of Lake Drontermeer (The Netherlands) (187, 188). All three cultures were transferred every 3-4 weeks to fresh MS media with 5 mM ammonium.

#### **Growth experiments**

The growth of *N. eutropha*, *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 (pure) and *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 + *Pseudomonas* sp. Is19 (coculture) at different ammonium concentrations was screened to determine the threshold of toxic ammonium concentration for the respective culture. The growth experiments were performed in MS media with different ammonium concentrations buffered with HEPES at pH 7.5-7.7 in a ratio of 1:4 for below 10 mM ammonium and 40 mM HEPES for all higher ammonium concentrations.

Nitrite production by the ammonia oxidizers was measured throughout the growth cycle and growth rates were calculated based on the assumption that the production of nitrite and nitrate is correlated to the growth of ammonia oxidizers (45, 49, 115, 117). Nitrite and nitrate concentrations were ln transformed (natural log) and plotted against time. The growth rates were calculated as the slope of the log transformed data over time. The slope was linear over several days and the  $R^2$  was  $\ge 0.98$  and in most cases  $\ge 0.99$ .

The ammonium concentration at which the growth rate of an AO culture decreased compared to the tested lower ammonium concentration was defined as the threshold for toxicity to the respective AO culture. Based on the determined toxic ammonium concentration, low, intermediate and high ammonium concentrations were selected to study the effect of ammonium concentrations on gene regulation. Cultures were also cultivated with nitrite and methyl viologen as controls for nitrosative and oxidative stress respectively to evaluate if there is a correlation between high ammonium toxicity and increase in oxidative and nitrosative stress. The conditions of cultivation are comprehensively listed in Table 12. Ammonium and nitrite concentrations and pH of media were monitored regularly. The ammonium concentrations were maintained stable by replenishing it after 15-25% of the ammonium was depleted and the pH of media was maintained at  $7.5 \pm 0.2$  by adding NaOH. Ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>) and ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>) exist in a pH dependent equilibrium with a pKs value of 9.25 and maintaining pH is important to keep ammonia and ammonium concentrations reproducible (63).

#### **Chemical analysis**

Ammonium and nitrite were measured using colorimetric assays (115).

#### **RNA** isolation

After the *N. eutropha* and *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 (pure and coculture) cultures had consumed ammonium to produce 5- and 2.5 mM nitrite, respectively, cell biomass was collected through 0.22- $\mu$ m membrane filter. The filter was suspended in RLT buffer (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA) + DTT, homogenized and RNA extracted immediately. If RNA was not extracted immediately, the cell homogenate in RLT buffer + DTT was stored at -80°C. RNA was isolated from biomass of cultures incubated at all conditions in Table 12 using Qiagen RNeasy Mini Kit (Valencia, CA, USA) with following modifications. The membrane filters with the biomass were suspended in 700  $\mu$ L of RLT buffer with (40  $\mu$ L of 1M DTT in 1 mL RLT buffer) and homogenized in a BioSpec Mini-Beadbeater-24 (BioSpec Products, Inc., Bartlesville, OK, USA) at 4,800 rpm for 30 s. After bead beating, the samples were treated following manufacturer's recommendation. The samples were kept on ice in between treatments and RNA was eluted in 40  $\mu$ L RNase-free water.

Table 12. Conditions of cultivation of N. eutropha, Nitrosomonas sp. Is79 (pure), andNitrosomonas sp. Is79 + Pseudomonas sp. Is19 (coculture).

Culture	Conditions	NH4 <sup>+</sup> [mM]	NO <sub>2</sub> <sup>-</sup> [mM]	Additional
				supplements
N. eutropha	Low ammonium	5		
	Intermediate	100		
	ammonium			
	High ammonium	400		
	Control for nitrosative	5	5	Sodium nitrite as
	stress			nitrite source
	Control for oxidative	5		Methyl viologen as
	stress			ROS source
Nitrosomonas sp. Is79	Low ammonium	1		
	Intermediate	5		
	ammonium			
	High ammonium	10		
	High ammonium	20		
	Control for nitrosative	1	2.5	Sodium nitrite as
	stress			nitrite source
	Control for oxidative	1		Methyl viologen as
	stress			ROS producer
Nitrosomonas sp. Is79 +	Low ammonium	1		
Pseudomonas sp. H19				
	Intermediate	5		
	ammonium			
	High ammonium	10		

The isolated RNA samples were DNase-treated, cleaned, and concentrated using a ZYMO RESEARCH RNA Clean & ConcentratorTM-5 kit following the manufacturer's manual selecting for total RNA (Zymo Research, Irvine, USA). Highly concentrated DNase-free RNA samples were eluted 35 μL of RNase-free water. The quality of RNA samples was monitored by performing agarose gel electrophoresis in 1% non-denaturing agarose gel in 1x TAE. RNA samples were quantified using Qubit<sup>TM</sup> RNA HS assay (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA).

#### **RESULTS**

#### Effect of ammonium on the growth and activity of Nitrosomonas sp. Is79 and N. eutropha

To investigate the effect of different ammonium concentrations on growth and activity of AOB Nitrosomonas sp., growth experiments were performed with N. eutropha and Nitrosomonas sp. Is79 at different ammonium concentrations. The growth and ammonia oxidation activity of the cultures at different ammonium were investigated by calculating growth rates and lag phase of growth. Of the tested ammonium concentration range of 1 mM to 70 mM ammonium, Nitrosomonas sp. Is79 oxidized ammonium to nitrite at up to 50 mM ammonium (Figure 19). At 1- and 5 mM ammonium, all of the ammonium was oxidized to nitrite. At 20 mM ammonium and above, the nitrite production was inhibited after some nitrite was produced (Figure 19). For example, at 30 mM ammonium, nitrite production was 0.5-fold lower than that in 5 mM ammonium medium. Nitrite production further decreased at higher ammonium concentrations while there was no nitrite produced at 70 mM ammonium (Figure 19). Effect of ammonium on N. eutropha were tested at 1- to 500 mM ammonium concentrations. N. eutropha oxidized ammonium, producing nitrite, in all the tested ammonium concentrations (Figure 20). Of the tested ammonium concentrations, nitrite production by N. eutropha plateaued at 100 mM around 6 mM and the nitrite production decreased with increasing ammonium concentrations (Figure 20). At 400 mM ammonium, N. eutropha produced approximately 0.5-fold lower nitrite than at 50 mM ammonium (Figure 20).



Figure 19. Nitrite production by *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 at different ammonium concentrations (mean  $\pm$  SD, n=3).



Figure 20. Nitrite production by *Nitrosomonas eutropha* at different ammonium concentrations (mean  $\pm$  SD, n=3).

Both AOB strains followed Monod kinetics i.e., the growth rates increased with increasing in ammonium concentration until a high ammonium threshold was reached, above which ammonium was inhibitory to their growth (Figure 21). The maximum growth rate of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 occurred at 10 mM ammonium and declined from 20- to 40 mM ammonium. There was some nitrite production activity at 50 mM ammonium, but the absence of logarithmic nitrite production indicated no growth. Both growth and activity of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 culture were completely inhibited at 70 mM ammonium (Figure 21). *N. eutropha* had the highest growth rate at 100 mM ammonium and the growth rate decreased by 0.67-fold at 400 mM ammonium. *N. eutropha* had some nitrite production but no growth at 500 mM ammonium. **Cultivation of** *N. eutropha* **at low, intermediate and high ammonium to study gene expression** 

Low, intermediate and high ammonium concentrations to study gene regulation in N. eutropha were selected based on the growth experiment testing the effects of different ammonium concentrations on growth (Figure 20). N. eutropha was cultivated at 5-, 100- and 400 mM ammonium to study gene expression at low, intermediate and high ammonium concentrations respectively. N. eutropha was also cultivated with 100 mM in the presence of 2  $\mu$ M methyl viologen or 5 mM nitrite as controls for oxidative and nitrosative stress, respectively (Table 12). Methyl viologen produces reactive oxygen species (ROS) causing oxidative stress to cells (189). Nitrite was N. eutropha oxidized ammonium at all tested conditions (Figure 22). Of the low, intermediate, and high ammonium conditions, the growth rate of N. eutropha was the lowest at 400 mM ammonium (Figure 22B). The nitrite production at 400 mM was delayed by 2 days compared to 5- and 100 mM ammonium reflecting a longer lag phase at 400 mM ammonium compared to other tested ammonium concentrations (Figure 22A). The growth rate of *N. eutropha* was approximately 0.36-fold lower at 100 mM ammonium compared with 100 mM ammonium in presence of 5 mM nitrite added. N. eutropha grew at a similar rate at 100 mM ammonium with or without a 2  $\mu$ M methyl viologen background (Figure 22).



Figure 21. Nitrite production rates of (A) *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 and (B) *N. eutropha* at different ammonium concentrations (mean  $\pm$  SD, n=3).



Culture condition

Figure 22. (A) Nitrite production by *N. eutropha* at 5-, 100-, 400 mM ammonium only, 100 mM ammonium + 0.2  $\mu$ M MV and 100 mM ammonium + 5 mM nitrite (mean ± SD, n=4) (B) Ammonia-oxidation rates of *N. eutropha* at 5-, 100-, 400 mM ammonium only, 100 mM ammonium + 0.2  $\mu$ M MV and 100 mM ammonium + 5 mM nitrite (mean ± SD, n=4)

# Cultivation of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 at low, intermediate and high ammonium to study gene expression

Low, intermediate and high ammonium concentration to study gene regulation in *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 were selected based on the growth experiment (Figure 19). 10 mM was selected as the high ammonium because at and above 20 mM ammonium, the culture did not produce 5 mM nitrite in a logarithmic fashion (Figure 19). Hence, *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 was cultivated at 1-, 5- and 10 mM ammonium to study gene expression at low, intermediate and high ammonium concentrations respectively. *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 was also cultivated at 5 mM ammonium in the presence of 0.2  $\mu$ M methyl viologen and 2.5 mM nitrite as controls for oxidative and nitrosative stress, respectively (Table 12). *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 oxidized ammonium at all tested conditions (Figure 23A). The growth rate of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 was 0.75-fold at 1 mM ammonium compared with the growth rates at 5- and 10 mM ammonium (Figure 23).

The presence of 2.5 mM nitrite in 5 mM ammonium resulted in a 0.25-fold reduction in the growth rate of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 compared to cultures grown in 5 mM ammonium without the 2.5 mM nitrite supplement (Figure 23B). The growth rate of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 at 5 mM ammonium only was similar to the growth rate of cultures grown in the presence of 5 mM ammonium and 0.2  $\mu$ M methyl viologen (Figure 23B).



Figure 23. Ammonia-oxidation activity of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 at low, intermediate and high ammonium: (A) Nitrite production by *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 at 1-, 5-, 10 mM ammonium only, 5 mM ammonium + 0.2  $\mu$ M MV (mean  $\pm$  SD, n=4), (B) Ammonia-oxidation rates of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 at 1-, 5-, 10 mM ammonium only, 5 mM ammonium + 0.2  $\mu$ M MV (mean  $\pm$  SD, n=4).

## Cultivation of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 + *Pseudomonas* sp. H19 at low, intermediate and high ammonium to study gene expression

*Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 + *Pseudomonas* sp. coculture was cultivated at 1-, 5- and 10 mM ammonium to study gene regulation at low, intermediate and high ammonium concentrations and compare them to the pure culture of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79. The coculture oxidized ammonium at all three ammonium conditions (Figure 24). The growth rate of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 + *Pseudomonas* sp. coculture was similar at low, intermediate and high ammonium concentration (Figure 24B). Surprisingly, the growth rate of the coculture was higher at 1 mM ammonium and similar at 5- and 10 mM ammonium compared to the pure culture of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 (Figure 24).

#### DISCUSSION

Ammonium impacts the growth of *Nitrosomonas* sp. negatively at high concentrations even though it is essential as an energy substrate for these chemolithotrophic bacterium. Ammonium is one of the factors affecting the distribution of AO in the environment. Understanding the ammonium toxicity in an AO can be beneficial in predicting the distribution and abundance of the specific AO in a known environment. Wastewater treatment plants receive large amounts of human-produced urea, which can lead to high levels of ammonium. Understanding ammonium toxicity in AO is also beneficial in selecting AO in wastewater treatment plants. The sensitivity of *Nitrosomonas* sp. towards ammonium concentration depends on the strain of *Nitrosomonas* sp. as observed with the high sensitivity of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 compared to *N. eutropha* (Figure 19, Figure 20, Figure 21). High ammonium affects growth rate as well as the lag phase of growth (Figure 22, Figure 23). *N. eutropha* is tolerant to higher concentration of methyl viologen and nitrice (Figure 22, Figure 23) indicating a correlation between high ammonium and oxidative and nitrosative stress. This observation also reflects the ability of *N. eutropha* to adapt to high oxidative and nitrosative stress.

Unexpectedly, the growth rate of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 was not increased by the presence of heterotroph *Pseudomonas* sp. H19 at the tested high ammonium concentration of 10 mM. However, the growth rate of the strain was higher at 1 mM ammonium in coculture than in pure culture of *Nitrosomonas* sp. H19. The presence of the heterotroph likely increases the K<sub>s</sub> of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 to ammonia, resulting in a faster growth rate at low ammonium concentration. We may further be able to make speculations about the effect of heterotroph on the influence of ammonium on *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79.



Figure 24. Ammonia oxidation activity of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 pure and coculture compared: (A) Nitrite production by *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 pure and *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 + H19 coculture at 1-, 5- and 10 mM ammonium (mean  $\pm$  SD, n=4), (B) Ammonia oxidation rates of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 pure and *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 + H19 coculture at 1-, 5- and 10 mM ammonium (mean  $\pm$  SD, n=4).

#### CONCLUSION

In this chapter, I studied the impact of high ammonium concentration on the growth and physiology of AOB *Nitrosomonas* sp. and the impact of heterotroph on alleviating the high ammonium toxicity in the AOB. We have investigated the concentrations of ammonium that are toxic to *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 and *N. eutropha*. We have determined *N. eutropha* to be more tolerant to ammonium than *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79. *Pseudomonas* sp. H19 increased the growth rate of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 at low (1 mM) ammonium concentrations. RNA-seq data will be help us further understand how the physiological states of the *Nitrosomonas* sp. might be different at different ammonium concentrations and in the presence of heterotroph.

#### **SUMMARY**

With the introduction of significant amount of human-produced nitrogen into the environment in the form of synthetic fertilizers (approximately 150 Tg annually), it is increasingly crucial to predict, model, and regulate nitrification processes in both natural and engineered settings (190). The excessive application of fertilizers has led to the eutrophication of terrestrial, inland, and coastal aquatic environments (191), resulting in substantial shifts in microbial communities (192, 193). Along with the shifts in the environment, it is necessary to understand the impact of eutrophication on ammonia oxidizers.

The process of nitrification involves the conversion of ammonium to nitrate, which occurs through a two-step process facilitated by microorganisms. Previously, nitrification was believed to be carried out by two groups of microorganisms. Firstly, ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (AOB) and ammonia-oxidizing archaea (AOA) catalyze the oxidation of ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>) to nitrite (NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>) under aerobic conditions. Secondly, nitrite-oxidizing bacteria (NOB) carry out the oxidation of nitrite to nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>), thus completing the nitrification process. However, this belief was rebuked in 2015 after the discovery of a third group of microorganisms performing complete ammonia oxidation commonly called comammox (9, 10).

The discovery of comammox added a new dynamic to the field of nitrification. Some important ecological questions were raised following the discovery of comammox including where are comammox found, which nitrifier is numerically and functionally dominant at different environments, what are the effects of abiotic factors on distribution of AO and how the nitrifying microbes interact in nature.

The goal of this dissertation was to characterize the effect of biotic and abiotic environmental factors on AOs. A comammox enrichment BO4 from mesotrophic freshwater Lake Burr Oak was genomically and physiologically characterized (49). Physiological activity of the enrichment was characterized through growth at different environmental conditions and the genomic characterization was utilized to predict the metabolic potential of the comammox strain. Competition experiments were utilized to investigate the competitive interaction between the comammox enrichment and an AOA enrichment from the same lake. In addition, the toxic effect of high ammonium concentrations on pure cultures of *Nitrosomonas eutropha* and *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 and coculture of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 with *Pseudomonas* sp. was characterized by cultivating them at different ammonium concentrations. The summary of findings of this dissertation has been presented in Figure 25. The gene expression of the cultures at high ammonium will be evaluated by analyzing the differential gene expression when RNA-seq data is available.

#### Genomic and ecophysiological characterization of comammox

Ecophysiological characterization of comammox enrichment BO4 was performed through a series of growth experiments at different environmental conditions like ammonium concentration, pH, light and nitrite concentration. Comammox enrichment BO4 grew the best at the lowest tested ammonium concentration (25  $\mu$ M) and grew at up to 3 mM ammonium, the highest tested ammonium concentration. The enrichment grew at pH 6 to 8, highlighting its neutrophilic nature. The BO4 enrichment was completely and partially inhibited by blue and white light respectively indicating the light sensitivity of the AMO enzyme, as observed in AOA and AOB (85, 132). The enrichment was able to oxidize provided ammonium to nitrate with a small leftover of nitrite. However, the culture was not able to oxidize nitrite only, in the lack of the ability to assimilate nitrite as speculated by Daims et al. (2015) (9). In addition, the growth data were used to compare the ecophysiological response of the comammox enrichment with AOB G5-7 and AOA-AC2 enrichments. Overall, AOB G5-7 were observed to grow at higher ammonium concentrations with higher growth rates than comammox BO4 and AOA-AC2. AOA-AC2 grew through pH 6.5-9 and AOB G5-7 grew through pH 6-9. All three tested ammonia oxidizers are non-acidophilic. Photoinhibition was observed in all the three ammonia oxidizers tested.

This dissertation produced the first metagenome assembled genome (MAG) of a comammox *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 from a freshwater environment (49). The MAG has gene clusters for ammonia and nitrite oxidation, in addition to the genes of the reductive TCA cycle for carbon fixation. The MAG also indicates its potential to oxidize urea which could not be tested in the lack of pure culture. The MAG of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 also lacks assimilatory nitrite reductase and nitrite transporter in correlation with its inability to grow in nitrite only. Overall, this dissertation asserts that growth experiments together with metagenomic study is a powerful tool in characterizing enrichment cultures of comammox.





Figure 25. Ammonium concentraton influences the ammonia-oxidation activity of ammoniaoxidizers (A) ammonia oxidation activity and competition for ammonium between comammox *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 and AOA *Nitrosoarchaeum* sp. (B) ammonium oxidation activity of AOB *N. eutropha* and *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79.

#### **Outlook and future directions**

The discovery of comammox refuted the long-held belief that nitrification is a two-step process carried out by two groups of microorganisms, AOA/AOB and NOB. Following the discovery of comammox, it is critical to understand the ecological function and niches occupied by the comammox along with other nitrifiers. To investigate the roles of nitrifiers in pristine and disturbed natural environments and engineered ecosystems, researchers often employ cultureindependent techniques such as metaproteomics (194), metatranscriptomics (195) and metagenomics (196, 197). While these -omics approaches can identify microbial communities, they cannot account for the critical information like microbial function, their microniches and microbial interactions. By exploring and correlating physiological adaptations within specific groups of ammonia oxidizers with genomic information, we can gain insights into how environmental disturbances influence microbial community succession and overall ecosystem function. However, only 4 comammox cultures originating from engineered ecosystems have been characterized physiologically and genomically (9, 10, 38, 93). This dissertation presents ecophysiological and genomic characterization of a comammox enrichment from freshwater environment. Enriching and isolating more comammox from diverse environments in correlation with their genomic and physiological study could be utilized to understand the physiological and niche diversity of comammox in nature.

The challenges of cultivating ammonia oxidizers are well understood. However, with continuous and ingenuous efforts, it is not impossible to obtain enrichment and pure cultures of comammox. Comammox are known for their oligotrophic nature. It may be helpful to attempt to culture comammox in chemostats at low ammonium concentrations excluding other eutrophic ammonia oxidizers. Microbes live in close interactions and may not be able to be separated from their codependent partners. In such case, it might be logical to cultivate the comammox as enrichments or cocultures. Genomic and physiological study of monoclonal culture of comammox living in association with heterotrophs could describe a lot about the physiology and ecological function of the comammox compared to the -omics based studies of environmental samples inundated with a wide variety of ammonia oxidizers.

## Competition between ammonia-oxidizing Archaea and complete ammonia oxidizers from freshwater environments

AOA and comammox generally are oligotrophic in nature and they coexist in several oligotrophic environments such as drinking water treatment plants (157), wastewater treatment plant (158, 159) and agricultural soils (102). It is interesting to understand the interaction between AOA and comammox at low ammonium environments to interpret if AOA and comammox live together in close association or only one occupies at a microniche. This dissertation investigated the competitive interaction between comammox enrichment BO4 and AOA enrichment BO1 at low ( $\leq 1 \mu$ M), intermediate (50  $\mu$ M) and high (500  $\mu$ M) ammonium concentrations.

Comammox BO4 outcompeted AOA at all tested ammonium concentrations indicating that comammox BO4 has a competitive advantage over AOA BO1. Firstly, comammox have a higher energy yield per molecule of ammonia because of their ability to perform two-step oxidation of ammonia to nitrate through nitrite. Secondly, comammox BO1 has the most energy efficient carbon fixation pathway, reductive TCA compared to less efficient 3hydroxypropionate carbon fixation pathway in AOA BO1 (9, 10, 39). This dissertation highlights that when two oligotrophic ammonia oxidizers are competing for limiting ammonium concentrations, the one with better metabolic advantages outcompetes the other. Competition experiments are a great tool in characterizing the interactions between competing microbes which can facilitate the understanding the niche occupied by the microbes.

#### **Outlook and future directions**

AOA, AOB and comammox have phylogenetically distinct AMO enzymes. The ammonia oxidizers can be differentiated based on the gene sequence of *amoA* gene subunit, ammonia oxidizers. The AMO enzymes of AOB generally have low affinities to ammonia while comammox and AOA have higher affinities to ammonia (48). In accordance with the affinities of AMO enzymes, AOB are generally eutrophic in nature while AOA and comammox are oligotrophic in nature. The different microniches cannot be differentiated by standard sampling method that can include multiple microniches in a small area. Competition experiments are a very useful tool to simulate interaction between microbes in microniches. Previous competition experiments for ammonium between AOB-heterotroph and AOA-AOB show that AOB outcompete heterotrophs when organic carbon is limited (< critical C/N ratio) (116, 198) and AOA outcompete AOB at low ammonium concentrations (113).

This dissertation investigated the competitive interaction between oligotrophic AOA-BO1 and comammox-BO4 from freshwater Lake Burr Oak. Comammox-BO4 had a competitive advantage over AOA-BO1 indicating that comammox and AOA maybe be separated in microniches. Similar competition experiments between other strains of comammox and AOA will help investigate if all comammox have a competitive advantage over AOA. Nitrite-oxidizers are also found in association with the oligotrophic AOA and comammox. It will be interesting to observe if nitrite oxidizers play a role in the comammox outcompeting AOA in oligotrophic environment by removing nitrite.

#### High ammonium-toxicity in ammonia-oxidizing bacteria Nitrosomonas sp.

Ammonium is toxic to AOB at high concentrations. *Nitrosomonas* cluster 7 is more tolerant to ammonium than *Nitrosomonas* cluster 6a. *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 (cluster 6a) and. *N. eutropha* (cluster 7) were cultivated at different ammonium concentrations to observe if they were differently affected by ammonium. Ammonium concentrations above 10 mM were toxic to *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 decreasing its growth rate and increasing lag phase (Figure 23). Ammonium concentrations above 400 mM were toxic to *N. eutropha* (Figure 22). *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 + *Pseudomonas* sp. H19 grows faster than the pure culture of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 (186) (Figure 25). We have collected RNA samples of pure cultures of *N. eutropha*, *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 and coculture of *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79 + *Pseudomonas* sp. H19 to investigate effect of ammonium on gene expression of the cultures.

#### **Outlook and future directions**

High ammonium is toxic to AOB *Nitrosomonas* sp. The mechanism by which high ammonium causes toxicity is yet to be understood. The tolerance of *Nitrosomonas* sp. towards ammonium varies depending on the bacterial strain. *N. eutropha* is more tolerant to ammonium than *Nitrosomonas* sp. Is79. We are yet to understand the differential ammonium tolerance. Also, some heterotrophs may increase ammonium tolerance in AOB. This dissertation is attempting to address the ammonium toxicity phenomenon in AOB. We do not have the data from RNA-seq yet and we look forward to dissecting the phenomenon.

#### **Overall summary**

This dissertation presents ecophysiological and genomic characterization of a comammox from a freshwater mesotrophic Lake Burr Oak. In 2023, eight years past the discovery of comammox, only 5 comammox have been characterized and all except *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 of the
characterized comammox originated from bioengineered systems like hot water pipes and recirculating aquaculture system (9, 10, 49, 93). We enriched a comammox from the sediment of mesotrophic Lake Burr Oak and investigated its effect of environmental conditions such as ammonium concentration, pH, light and nitrite (49). We sequenced the metagenome of comammox enrichment and obtained metagenome assembled genome (MAG) of *Nitrospira* sp. BO4 to analyze the metabolic potential of the comammox strain. The second focus of this dissertation was to investigate competition for ammonium between the comammox and an AOA originating from the same freshwater Lake Burr Oak.

Additionally, this dissertation investigated the effect of high ammonium on AOB *Nitrosomonas* sp.

## REFERENCES

- 1. Arrigo KR. 2005. Marine microorganisms and global nutrient cycles. Nature 437:349–355.
- 2. Smil V. 1997. Global population and the nitrogen cycle. Sci Am 277:76-81.
- 3. Sprent JI, Platzmann J. 2001. Nodulation in legumes. Royal Botanic Gardens Kew.
- 4. Noxon JF. 1976. Atmospheric nitrogen fixation by lightning. Geophys Res Lett 3:463–465.
- Galloway JN, Townsend AR, Erisman JW, Bekunda M, Cai Z, Freney JR, Martinelli LA, Seitzinger SP, Sutton MA. 2008. Transformation of the nitrogen cycle: recent trends, questions, and potential solutions. Science 320:889–892.
- 6. Ward BB, Arp DJ, Klotz MG. 2011. Nitrification. American Society for Microbiology Press.
- Eberhard Bock, Michael Wagner. Oxidation of Inorganic Nitrogen Compounds as an Energy Source, p 457-495. In: Dworkin M, Falkow S, Rosenberg E, Schleifer K-H, Stackebrandt E (eds), The Prokaryotes, vol 2. Ecophysiology and biochemistry. Springer, New York, NY. The Prokaryotes - Prokaryotic communities and ecophysiology 83-118. Httpslink-Springer-Comproxylibmiamiohedureferenceworkentry101007978-3-642-30141-464. Retrieved 17 May 2023.
- Könneke M, Bernhard AE, de la Torre JR, Walker CB, Waterbury JB, Stahl DA. 2005. Isolation of an autotrophic ammonia-oxidizing marine archaeon. 7058. Nature 437:543– 546.
- Daims H, Lebedeva EV, Pjevac P, Han P, Herbold C, Albertsen M, Jehmlich N, Palatinszky M, Vierheilig J, Bulaev A, Kirkegaard RH, von Bergen M, Rattei T, Bendinger B, Nielsen PH, Wagner M. 2015. Complete nitrification by Nitrospira bacteria. 7583. Nature 528:504–509.
- van Kessel MAHJ, Speth DR, Albertsen M, Nielsen PH, Op den Camp HJM, Kartal B, Jetten MSM, Lücker S. 2015. Complete nitrification by a single microorganism. 7583. Nature 528:555–559.
- Daims H, Lücker S, Paslier DL, Wagner M. 2011. Diversity, Environmental Genomics, and Ecophysiology of Nitrite-Oxidizing Bacteria, p. 295–322. *In* Nitrification. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- 12. Huang K, Feng Q, Zhang Y, Ou L, Cen J, Lu S, Qi Y. 2020. Comparative uptake and assimilation of nitrate, ammonium, and urea by dinoflagellate Karenia mikimotoi and diatom Skeletonema costatum s.l. in the coastal waters of the East China Sea. Mar Pollut Bull 155:111200.
- 13. Stein LY. 2011. Chapter six Surveying N2O-Producing Pathways in Bacteria, p. 131–152. *In* Klotz, MG (ed.), Methods in Enzymology. Academic Press.

- 14. Bothe H, Jost G, Schloter M, Ward BB, Witzel K-P. 2000. Molecular analysis of ammonia oxidation and denitrification in natural environments. FEMS Microbiol Rev 24:673–690.
- Balls PW, Brockie N, Dobson J, Johnston W. 1996. Dissolved Oxygen and Nitrification in the Upper Forth Estuary During Summer (1982–92): Patterns and Trends. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 42:117–134.
- Flores E, Herrero A. 2005. Nitrogen assimilation and nitrogen control in cyanobacteria. Biochem Soc Trans 33:164–167.
- 17. De Schryver P, Verstraete W. 2009. Nitrogen removal from aquaculture pond water by heterotrophic nitrogen assimilation in lab-scale sequencing batch reactors. Bioresour Technol 100:1162–1167.
- 18. Grover R, Maguer J-F, Allemand D, Ferrier-Pagès C. 2008. Uptake of dissolved free amino acids by the scleractinian coral Stylophora pistillata. J Exp Biol 211:860–865.
- 19. Dai Z-L, Wu G, Zhu W-Y. 2011. Amino acid metabolism in intestinal bacteria: links between gut ecology and host health. Front Biosci-Landmark 16:1768–1786.
- Regulation of Amino Acid, Nucleotide, and Phosphate Metabolism in Saccharomyces cerevisiae | Genetics | Oxford Academic. https://academic.oup.com/genetics/article/190/3/885/6094867.
- 21. Lu H, Chandran K, Stensel D. 2014. Microbial ecology of denitrification in biological wastewater treatment. Water Res 64:237–254.
- 22. Isolation and characterization of Paracoccus denitrificans mutants with increased conjugation frequencies and pleiotropic loss of a (nGATCn) DNA-modifying property | SpringerLink. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/BF00447011. Retrieved 25 May 2023.
- 23. Højberg O, Revsbech NP, Tiedje JM. 1994. Denitrification in Soil Aggregates Analyzed with Microsensors for Nitrous Oxide and Oxygen. Soil Sci Soc Am J 58:1691–1698.
- 24. Hattori A. 1983. Denitrification and dissimilatory nitrate reduction. Nitrogen Mar Environ 191–232.
- Mulder A, Van de Graaf AA, Robertson LA, Kuenen JG. 1995. Anaerobic ammonium oxidation discovered in a denitrifying fluidized bed reactor. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 16:177–183.
- 26. Ding S, Zheng P, Lu H, Chen J, Mahmood Q, Abbas G. 2013. Ecological characteristics of anaerobic ammonia oxidizing bacteria. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 97:1841–1849.
- 27. Knowles R. 1982. Denitrification. Microbiol Rev 46:43-70.

- Kuenen JG. 2008. Anammox bacteria: from discovery to application. Nat Rev Microbiol 6:320–326.
- 29. Jetten MS, Wagner M, Fuerst J, van Loosdrecht M, Kuenen G, Strous M. 2001. Microbiology and application of the anaerobic ammonium oxidation ('anammox') process. Curr Opin Biotechnol 12:283–288.
- 30. Fuchsman CA, Staley JT, Oakley BB, Kirkpatrick JB, Murray JW. 2012. Free-living and aggregate-associated Planctomycetes in the Black Sea. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 80:402–416.
- 31. Benbi DK, Richter J. 2002. A critical review of some approaches to modelling nitrogen mineralization. Biol Fertil Soils 35:168–183.
- 32. Zaman M, Di HJ, Cameron KC, Frampton CM. 1999. Gross nitrogen mineralization and nitrification rates and their relationships to enzyme activities and the soil microbial biomass in soils treated with dairy shed effluent and ammonium fertilizer at different water potentials. Biol Fertil Soils 29:178–186.
- 33. Stein LY, Klotz MG. 2016. The nitrogen cycle. Curr Biol 26:R94–R98.
- 34. Arp DJ, Stein LY. 2003. Metabolism of Inorganic N Compounds by Ammonia-Oxidizing Bacteria. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol 38:471–495.
- 35. Purkhold U, Wagner M, Timmermann G, Pommerening-Roser A, Koops H-P. 2003. 16S rRNA and amoA-based phylogeny of 12 novel betaproteobacterial ammonia-oxidizing isolates: extension of the dataset and proposal of a new lineage within the nitrosomonads. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 53:1485–1494.
- 36. Sayavedra-Soto LA, Hommes NG, Alzerreca JJ, Arp DJ, Norton JM, Klotz MG. 1998. Transcription of the amoC, amoA and amoB genes in Nitrosomonas europaea and Nitrosospira sp. NpAV. FEMS Microbiol Lett 167:81–88.
- 37. Sayavedra-Soto LA, Arp DJ. 2011. Chapter 2: Ammonia-Oxidizing Bacteria: Their Biochemistry and Molecular Biology. Nitrification 11–38.
- Martens-Habbena W, Berube PM, Urakawa H, de la Torre JR, Stahl DA. 2009. Ammonia oxidation kinetics determine niche separation of nitrifying Archaea and Bacteria. 7266. Nature 461:976–979.
- 39. Walker CB, de la Torre JR, Klotz MG, Urakawa H, Pinel N, Arp DJ, Brochier-Armanet C, Chain PSG, Chan PP, Gollabgir A, Hemp J, Hügler M, Karr EA, Könneke M, Shin M, Lawton TJ, Lowe T, Martens-Habbena W, Sayavedra-Soto LA, Lang D, Sievert SM, Rosenzweig AC, Manning G, Stahl DA. 2010. Nitrosopumilus maritimus genome reveals unique mechanisms for nitrification and autotrophy in globally distributed marine crenarchaea. Proc Natl Acad Sci 107:8818–8823.

- 40. Spang A, Hatzenpichler R, Brochier-Armanet C, Rattei T, Tischler P, Spieck E, Streit W, Stahl DA, Wagner M, Schleper C. 2010. Distinct gene set in two different lineages of ammonia-oxidizing archaea supports the phylum Thaumarchaeota. Trends Microbiol 18:331–340.
- 41. Stein LY. 2019. Insights into the physiology of ammonia-oxidizing microorganisms. Curr Opin Chem Biol 49:9–15.
- 42. Daims H, Lücker S, Wagner M. 2016. A new perspective on microbes formerly known as nitrite-oxidizing bacteria. Trends Microbiol 24:699–712.
- 43. Xia F, Wang J-G, Zhu T, Zou B, Rhee S-K, Quan Z-X. 2018. Ubiquity and Diversity of Complete Ammonia Oxidizers (Comammox). Appl Environ Microbiol 84:e01390-18.
- 44. Francis CA, Roberts KJ, Beman JM, Santoro AE, Oakley BB. 2005. Ubiquity and diversity of ammonia-oxidizing archaea in water columns and sediments of the ocean. Proc Natl Acad Sci 102:14683–14688.
- French E, Kozlowski JA, Mukherjee M, Bullerjahn G, Bollmann A. 2012. Ecophysiological Characterization of Ammonia-Oxidizing Archaea and Bacteria from Freshwater. Appl Environ Microbiol 78:5773–5780.
- 46. Zhang L-M, Wang M, Prosser JI, Zheng Y-M, He J-Z. 2009. Altitude ammonia-oxidizing bacteria and archaea in soils of Mount Everest. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 70:208–217.
- 47. Koops HP, B? her B, M? r UC, Pommerening-R? A, Stehr G. 1991. Classification of eight new species of ammonia-oxidizing bacteria: Nitrosomonas communis sp. nov., Nitrosomonas ureae sp. nov., Nitrosomonas aestuarii sp. nov., Nitrosomonas marina sp. nov., Nitrosomonas nitrosa sp. nov., Nitrosomonas eutropha sp. nov., Nitrosomonas oligotropha sp. nov. and Nitrosomonas halophila sp. nov. Microbiology 137:1689–1699.
- 48. Kits KD, Sedlacek CJ, Lebedeva EV, Han P, Bulaev A, Pjevac P, Daebeler A, Romano S, Albertsen M, Stein LY, Daims H, Wagner M. 2017. Kinetic analysis of a complete nitrifier reveals an oligotrophic lifestyle. 7671. Nature 549:269–272.
- Ghimire-Kafle S, Weaver ME, Bollmann A. 2023. Ecophysiological and Genomic Characterization of the Freshwater Complete Ammonia Oxidizer Nitrospira sp. Strain BO4. Appl Environ Microbiol 89:e01965-22.
- Hatzenpichler R, Lebedeva EV, Spieck E, Stoecker K, Richter A, Daims H, Wagner M. 2008. A moderately thermophilic ammonia-oxidizing crenarchaeote from a hot spring. Proc Natl Acad Sci 105:2134–2139.
- Bouskill NJ, Eveillard D, Chien D, Jayakumar A, Ward BB. 2012. Environmental factors determining ammonia-oxidizing organism distribution and diversity in marine environments. Environ Microbiol 14:714–729.

- 52. Wang Y, Ma L, Mao Y, Jiang X, Xia Y, Yu K, Li B, Zhang T. 2017. Comammox in drinking water systems. Water Res 116:332–341.
- Wang D-Q, Zhou C-H, Nie M, Gu J-D, Quan Z-X. 2021. Abundance and niche specificity of different types of complete ammonia oxidizers (comammox) in salt marshes covered by different plants. Sci Total Environ 768:144993.
- Jung M-Y, Sedlacek CJ, Kits KD, Mueller AJ, Rhee S-K, Hink L, Nicol GW, Bayer B, Lehtovirta-Morley L, Wright C, de la Torre JR, Herbold CW, Pjevac P, Daims H, Wagner M. 2022. Ammonia-oxidizing archaea possess a wide range of cellular ammonia affinities. 1. ISME J 16:272–283.
- 55. Alkan N, Fluhr R, Prusky D. 2012. Ammonium secretion during Colletotrichum coccodes infection modulates salicylic and jasmonic acid pathways of ripe and unripe tomato fruit. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 25:85–96.
- 56. Santos J, Sousa MJ, Leão C. 2012. Ammonium Is Toxic for Aging Yeast Cells, Inducing Death and Shortening of the Chronological Lifespan. PLOS ONE 7:e37090.
- 57. Li B, Li G, Kronzucker HJ, Baluška F, Shi W. 2014. Ammonium stress in Arabidopsis: signaling, genetic loci, and physiological targets. Trends Plant Sci 19(2):107-14.
- 58. Braissant O, McLin VA, Cudalbu C. 2013. Ammonia toxicity to the brain. J Inherit Metab Dis 36:595–612.
- 59. Wang R, Xu S, Sun H, Feng S, Jiang C, Zhou S, Wu S, Zhuang G, Chen B, Bai Z. 2019. Complex regulatory network allows Myriophyllum aquaticum to thrive under highconcentration ammonia toxicity. Sci Rep 9:4801.
- 60. Kosenko E, Venediktova N, Kaminsky Y, Montoliu C, Felipo V. 2003. Sources of oxygen radicals in brain in acute ammonia intoxication in vivo. Brain Res 981:193–200.
- 61. Oja SS, Saransaari P, Korpi ER. 2017. Neurotoxicity of ammonia. Neurochem Res 42:713– 720.
- 62. Sedlacek CJ, McGowan B, Suwa Y, Sayavedra-Soto L, Laanbroek HJ, Stein LY, Norton JM, Klotz MG, Bollmann A. 2019. A Physiological and Genomic Comparison of Nitrosomonas Cluster 6a and 7 Ammonia-Oxidizing Bacteria. Microb Ecol 78:985–994.
- 63. Erickson RJ. 1985. An evaluation of mathematical models for the effects of pH and temperature on ammonia toxicity to aquatic organisms. Water Res 19:1047–1058.
- 64. Clément B, Merlin G. 1995. The contribution of ammonia and alkalinity to landfill leachate toxicity to duckweed. Sci Total Environ 170:71–79.

- 65. Emerson K, Russo RC, Lund RE, Thurston RV. 1975. Aqueous Ammonia Equilibrium Calculations: Effect of pH and Temperature. J Fish Res Board Can 32:2379–2383.
- 66. Kleiner D. 1981. The transport of NH3 and HN4+ across biological membranes. Biochim Biophys Acta BBA Rev Bioenerg 639:41–52.
- 67. Suzuki I, Dular U, Kwok SC. 1974. Ammonia or Ammonium Ion as Substrate for Oxidation by Nitrosomonas europaea Cells and Extracts. J Bacteriol 120:556–558.
- Keerio HA, Bae W, Park J, Kim M. 2020. Substrate uptake, loss, and reserve in ammoniaoxidizing bacteria (AOB) under different substrate availabilities. Process Biochem 91:303–310.
- 69. Prosser JI, Nicol GW. 2008. Relative contributions of archaea and bacteria to aerobic ammonia oxidation in the environment. Environ Microbiol 10:2931–2941.
- 70. De Boer W, Gunnewiek PK, Veenhuis M, Bock E, Laanbroek HJ. 1991. Nitrification at low pH by aggregated chemolithotrophic bacteria. Appl Environ Microbiol 57(12):3600-4.
- 71. Gubry-Rangin C, Hai B, Quince C, Engel M, Thomson BC, James P, Schloter M, Griffiths RI, Prosser JI, Nicol GW. 2011. Niche specialization of terrestrial archaeal ammonia oxidizers. Proc Natl Acad Sci 108(52):21206-11.
- 72. He J, Shen J, Zhang L, Zhu Y, Zheng Y, Xu M, Di H. 2007. Quantitative analyses of the abundance and composition of ammonia-oxidizing bacteria and ammonia-oxidizing archaea of a Chinese upland red soil under long-term fertilization practices. Environ Microbiol 9:2364–2374.
- 73. Shen JP, Zhang LM, Zhu YG, Zhang JB, He JZ. 2008. Abundance and composition of ammonia-oxidizing bacteria and ammonia-oxidizing archaea communities of an alkaline sandy loam. Environmental microbiology. 10(6):1601-11.
- Zhang LM, Hu HW, Shen JP, He JZ. 2012. Ammonia-oxidizing archaea have more important role than ammonia-oxidizing bacteria in ammonia oxidation of strongly acidic soils. ISME J 6(5):1032-45.
- 75. Lehtovirta-Morley LE, Ge C, Ross J, Yao H, Nicol GW, Prosser JI. 2014. Characterisation of terrestrial acidophilic archaeal ammonia oxidisers and their inhibition and stimulation by organic compounds. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 89:542–552.
- 76. Daebeler A, Güell-Bujons Q, Mooshammer M, Zechmeister T, Herbold CW, Richter A, Wagner M, Daims H. 2023. Rapid nitrification involving comammox and canonical Nitrospira at extreme pH in saline-alkaline lakes. Environ Microbiol 25:1055–1067.
- 77. Brock TD, Madigan MT, Martinko JM, Parker J. 2003. Brock biology of microorganisms. Upper Saddle River (NJ): Prentice-Hall.

- 78. Ratkowsky DA, Olley J, McMeekin TA, Ball A. 1982. Relationship between temperature and growth rate of bacterial cultures. J Bacteriol 149:1–5.
- 79. Nakagawa T, Mori K, Kato C, Takahashi R, Tokuyama T. 2007. Distribution of cold-adapted ammonia-oxidizing microorganisms in the deep-ocean of the northeastern Japan Sea. Microbes and environments. 22(4):365-72.
- 80. Lebedeva EV, Hatzenpichler R, Pelletier E, Schuster N, Hauzmayer S, Bulaev A, Grigor'eva NV, Galushko A, Schmid M, Palatinszky M, Le Paslier D. 2013. Enrichment and genome sequence of the group I. 1a ammonia-oxidizing archaeon "Ca. Nitrosotenuis uzonensis" representing a clade globally distributed in thermal habitats. PLos one. 8(11):e80835.
- 81. Stieglmeier M, Klingl A, Alves RJ, Simon KM, Melcher M, Leisch N, Schleper C. 2014. *Nitrososphaera viennensis* gen. nov., sp. nov., an aerobic and mesophilic, ammoniaoxidizing archaeon from soil and a member of the archaeal phylum Thaumarchaeota. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 64(Pt 8):2738.
- 82. Bae W, Baek S, Chung J, Lee Y. 2001. Optimal operational factors for nitrite accumulation in batch reactors. Biodegradation 12:359–366.
- Buswell AM, Shiota T, Lawrence N, Van Meter I. 1954. Laboratory Studies on the Kinetics of the Growth of Nitrosomonas with Relation to the Nitrification Phase of the B.O.D. Test. Appl Microbiol 2:21–25.
- Gubry-Rangin C, Novotnik B, Mandič-Mulec I, Nicol GW, Prosser JI. 2017. Temperature responses of soil ammonia-oxidising archaea depend on pH. Soil Biol Biochem 106:61– 68.
- Hooper AB, Terry KR. 1974. Photoinactivation of Ammonia Oxidation in Nitrosomonas. J Bacteriol 119:899–906.
- Gottshall EY, Godfrey B, Li B, Abrahamson B, Qin W, Winkler M. 2022. Photoinhibition of comammox reaction in Nitrospira inopinata in a dose- and wavelength-dependent manner. Front Microbiol 13:1022899.
- Merbt SN, Stahl DA, Casamayor EO, Martí E, Nicol GW, Prosser JI. 2012. Differential photoinhibition of bacterial and archaeal ammonia oxidation. FEMS Microbiol Lett 327:41–46.
- 88. Wan XS, Sheng HX, Dai M, Church MJ, Zou W, Li X, Hutchins DA, Ward BB, Kao SJ. 2021. Phytoplankton-nitrifier interactions control the geographic distribution of nitrite in the upper ocean. Glob Biogeochem Cyc 35(11):e2021GB007072.
- 89. Coolen MJ, Abbas B, Van Bleijswijk J, Hopmans EC, Kuypers MM, Wakeham SG, Sinninghe Damsté JS. 2007. Putative ammonia-oxidizing Crenarchaeota in suboxic waters

of the Black Sea: a basin-wide ecological study using 16S ribosomal and functional genes and membrane lipids. Environmen Microbiol 9(4):1001-16.

- 90. Zheng M, Mu G, Zhang A, Wang J, Chang F, Niu J, Wang X, Gao T, Zhao Z. 2022. Predominance of comammox bacteria among ammonia oxidizers under low dissolved oxygen condition. Chemosphere 308:136436.
- 91. Nicol GW, Leininger S, Schleper C. 2011. Distribution and Activity of Ammonia-Oxidizing Archaea in Natural Environments, p. 157–178. *In* Nitrification. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- 92. Costa E, Pérez J, Kreft J-U. 2006. Why is metabolic labour divided in nitrification? Trends Microbiol 14:213–219.
- 93. Sakoula D, Koch H, Frank J, Jetten MSM, van Kessel MAHJ, Lücker S. 2021. Enrichment and physiological characterization of a novel comammox Nitrospira indicates ammonium inhibition of complete nitrification. 4. ISME J 15:1010–1024.
- 94. Kowalchuk GA, Stephen JR. 2001. Ammonia-Oxidizing Bacteria: A Model for Molecular Microbial Ecology. Annu Rev Microbiol 55:485–529.
- 95. Prosser JI, Head IM, Stein LY. 2014. The Family Nitrosomonadaceae, p. 901–918. *In* The Prokaryotes: Alphaproteobacteria and Betaproteobacteria. Springer Berlin / Heidelberg.
- 96. Rotthauwe JH, Witzel KP, Liesack W. 1997. The ammonia monooxygenase structural gene amoA as a functional marker: molecular fine-scale analysis of natural ammonia-oxidizing populations. Appl Environ Microbiol 63:4704–4712.
- 97. Pjevac P, Schauberger C, Poghosyan L, Herbold CW, van Kessel MAHJ, Daebeler A, Steinberger M, Jetten MSM, Lücker S, Wagner M, Daims H. 2017. AmoA-Targeted Polymerase Chain Reaction Primers for the Specific Detection and Quantification of Comammox Nitrospira in the Environment. Front Microbiol 8.
- 98. Chao Y, Mao Y, Yu K, Zhang T. 2016. Novel nitrifiers and comammox in a full-scale hybrid biofilm and activated sludge reactor revealed by metagenomic approach. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 100:8225–8237.
- 99. Yang Y, Daims H, Liu Y, Herbold CW, Pjevac P, Lin JG, Li M, Gu JD. 2020. Activity and metabolic versatility of complete ammonia oxidizers in full-scale wastewater treatment systems. Mbio 11(2):e03175-19.
- 100. Heise J, Müller H, Probst AJ, Meckenstock RU. 2021. Ammonium Removal in Aquaponics Indicates Participation of Comammox Nitrospira. Curr Microbiol 78:894–903.
- 101. Lin Y, Fan J, Hu H-W, Duan C, Ye G, Wan S, He Z-Y, Zheng Y, He J-Z. 2022. Differentiation of individual clusters of comammox Nitrospira in an acidic Ultisol following long-term fertilization. Appl Soil Ecol 170:104267.

- 102. Xu S, Wang B, Li Y, Jiang D, Zhou Y, Ding A, Zong Y, Ling X, Zhang S, Lu H. 2020. Ubiquity, diversity, and activity of comammox Nitrospira in agricultural soils. Sci Total Environ 706:135684.
- 103. Sun P, Zhang S, Wu Q, Zhu P, Ruan Y, Wang Q. 2021. pH and ammonium concentration are dominant predictors of the abundance and community composition of comammox bacteria in long-term fertilized Mollisol. Appl Soil Ecol 168:104139.
- 104. Hu J, Zhao Y, Yao X, Wang J, Zheng P, Xi C, Hu B. 2021. Dominance of comammox Nitrospira in soil nitrification. Sci Total Environ 780:146558.
- 105. Shi Y, Jiang Y, Wang S, Wang X, Zhu G. 2020. Biogeographic distribution of comammox bacteria in diverse terrestrial habitats. Sci Total Environ 717:137257.
- 106. Yuan D, Zheng L, Tan Q, Wang X, Xing Y, Wang H, Wang S, Zhu G. 2021. Comammox activity dominates nitrification process in the sediments of plateau wetland. Water Res 206:117774.
- 107. Harringer M, Alfreider A. 2021. Primer evaluation and development of a droplet digital PCR protocol targeting amoA genes for the quantification of Comammox in lakes. 1. Sci Rep 11:2982.
- 108. Fowler SJ, Palomo A, Dechesne A, Mines PD, Smets BF. 2018. Comammox Nitrospira are abundant ammonia oxidizers in diverse groundwater-fed rapid sand filter communities. Environ Microbiol 20:1002–1015.
- 109. Gülay A, Fowler SJ, Tatari K, Thamdrup B, Albrechtsen H-J, Al-Soud WA, Sørensen SJ, Smets BF. 2019. DNA- and RNA-SIP Reveal Nitrospira spp. as Key Drivers of Nitrification in Groundwater-Fed Biofilters. mBio 10:e01870-19.
- 110. Merbt SN, Stahl DA, Casamayor EO, Martí E, Nicol GW, Prosser JI. 2012. Differential photoinhibition of bacterial and archaeal ammonia oxidation. FEMS Microbiol Lett 327(1):41-6.
- 111. Tourna M, Freitag TE, Nicol GW, Prosser JI. 2008. Growth, activity and temperature responses of ammonia-oxidizing archaea and bacteria in soil microcosms. Environ Microbiol 10:1357–1364.
- 112. Beman JM, Popp BN, Francis CA. 2008. Molecular and biogeochemical evidence for ammonia oxidation by marine Crenarchaeota in the Gulf of California. 4. ISME J 2:429– 441.
- 113. French E, Kozlowski JA, Bollmann A. Competition between Ammonia-Oxidizing Archaea and Bacteria from Freshwater Environments. Appl Environ Microbiol 87:e01038-21.

- 114. Knoll LB, Vanni MJ, Renwick WH. 2003. Phytoplankton primary production and photosynthetic parameters in reservoirs along a gradient of watershed land use. Limnol Oceanogr 48:608–617.
- 115. Bollmann A, French E, Laanbroek HJ. 2011. Chapter three Isolation, Cultivation, and Characterization of Ammonia-Oxidizing Bacteria and Archaea Adapted to Low Ammonium Concentrations, p. 55–88. *In* Klotz, MG (ed.), Methods in Enzymology. Academic Press.
- 116. Verhagen FJM, Laanbroek HJ. 1991. Competition for Ammonium between Nitrifying and Heterotrophic Bacteria in Dual Energy-Limited Chemostats. Appl Environ Microbiol 57:3255–3263.
- 117. Belser LW, Schmidt EL. 1980. Growth and Oxidation Kinetics of Three Genera of Ammonia Oxidizing Nitrifiers. FEMS Microbiol Lett 7:213–216.
- 118. Kandeler E, Gerber H. 1988. Short-term assay of soil urease activity using colorimetric determination of ammonium. Biol Fertil Soils 6:68–72.
- 119. Keeney D r., Nelson D w. 1983. Nitrogen—Inorganic Forms, p. 643–698. *In* Methods of Soil Analysis. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- 120. Beda N, Nedospasov A. 2005. A spectrophotometric assay for nitrate in an excess of nitrite. Nitric Oxide 13:93–97.
- 121. Miranda KM, Espey MG, Wink DA. 2001. A Rapid, Simple Spectrophotometric Method for Simultaneous Detection of Nitrate and Nitrite. Nitric Oxide 5:62–71.
- 122. Caporaso JG, Kuczynski J, Stombaugh J, Bittinger K, Bushman FD, Costello EK, Fierer N, Peña AG, Goodrich JK, Gordon JI, Huttley GA, Kelley ST, Knights D, Koenig JE, Ley RE, Lozupone CA, McDonald D, Muegge BD, Pirrung M, Reeder J, Sevinsky JR, Turnbaugh PJ, Walters WA, Widmann J, Yatsunenko T, Zaneveld J, Knight R. 2010. QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. 5. Nat Methods 7:335–336.
- 123. Caporaso JG, Lauber CL, Walters WA, Berg-Lyons D, Huntley J, Fierer N, Owens SM, Betley J, Fraser L, Bauer M, Gormley N, Gilbert JA, Smith G, Knight R. 2012. Ultrahigh-throughput microbial community analysis on the Illumina HiSeq and MiSeq platforms. 8. ISME J 6:1621–1624.
- 124. Bolyen E, Rideout JR, Dillon MR, Bokulich NA, Abnet CC, Al-Ghalith GA, Alexander H, Alm EJ, Arumugam M, Asnicar F, Bai Y, Bisanz JE, Bittinger K, Brejnrod A, Brislawn CJ, Brown CT, Callahan BJ, Caraballo-Rodríguez AM, Chase J, Cope EK, Da Silva R, Diener C, Dorrestein PC, Douglas GM, Durall DM, Duvallet C, Edwardson CF, Ernst M, Estaki M, Fouquier J, Gauglitz JM, Gibbons SM, Gibson DL, Gonzalez A, Gorlick K, Guo J, Hillmann B, Holmes S, Holste H, Huttenhower C, Huttley GA, Janssen S,

Jarmusch AK, Jiang L, Kaehler BD, Kang KB, Keefe CR, Keim P, Kelley ST, Knights D, Koester I, Kosciolek T, Kreps J, Langille MGI, Lee J, Ley R, Liu Y-X, Loftfield E, Lozupone C, Maher M, Marotz C, Martin BD, McDonald D, McIver LJ, Melnik AV, Metcalf JL, Morgan SC, Morton JT, Naimey AT, Navas-Molina JA, Nothias LF, Orchanian SB, Pearson T, Peoples SL, Petras D, Preuss ML, Pruesse E, Rasmussen LB, Rivers A, Robeson MS, Rosenthal P, Segata N, Shaffer M, Shiffer A, Sinha R, Song SJ, Spear JR, Swafford AD, Thompson LR, Torres PJ, Trinh P, Tripathi A, Turnbaugh PJ, Ul-Hasan S, van der Hooft JJJ, Vargas F, Vázquez-Baeza Y, Vogtmann E, von Hippel M, Walters W, Wan Y, Wang M, Warren J, Weber KC, Williamson CHD, Willis AD, Xu ZZ, Zaneveld JR, Zhang Y, Zhu Q, Knight R, Caporaso JG. 2019. Reproducible, interactive, scalable and extensible microbiome data science using QIIME 2. 8. Nat Biotechnol 37:852–857.

- 125. Pester M, Maixner F, Berry D, Rattei T, Koch H, Lücker S, Nowka B, Richter A, Spieck E, Lebedeva E, Loy A. 2014. NxrB encoding the beta subunit of nitrite oxidoreductase as functional and phylogenetic marker for nitrite-oxidizing N itrospira. Environmen microbiol 16(10):3055-71.
- 126. Arkin AP, Cottingham RW, Henry CS, Harris NL, Stevens RL, Maslov S, Dehal P, Ware D, Perez F, Canon S, Sneddon MW, Henderson ML, Riehl WJ, Murphy-Olson D, Chan SY, Kamimura RT, Kumari S, Drake MM, Brettin TS, Glass EM, Chivian D, Gunter D, Weston DJ, Allen BH, Baumohl J, Best AA, Bowen B, Brenner SE, Bun CC, Chandonia J-M, Chia J-M, Colasanti R, Conrad N, Davis JJ, Davison BH, DeJongh M, Devoid S, Dietrich E, Dubchak I, Edirisinghe JN, Fang G, Faria JP, Frybarger PM, Gerlach W, Gerstein M, Greiner A, Gurtowski J, Haun HL, He F, Jain R, Joachimiak MP, Keegan KP, Kondo S, Kumar V, Land ML, Meyer F, Mills M, Novichkov PS, Oh T, Olsen GJ, Olson R, Parrello B, Pasternak S, Pearson E, Poon SS, Price GA, Ramakrishnan S, Ranjan P, Ronald PC, Schatz MC, Seaver SMD, Shukla M, Sutormin RA, Syed MH, Thomason J, Tintle NL, Wang D, Xia F, Yoo H, Yoo S, Yu D. 2018. KBase: The United States Department of Energy Systems Biology Knowledgebase. 7. Nat Biotechnol 36:566–569.
- 127. Chen I-MA, Chu K, Palaniappan K, Ratner A, Huang J, Huntemann M, Hajek P, Ritter S, Varghese N, Seshadri R, Roux S, Woyke T, Eloe-Fadrosh EA, Ivanova NN, Kyrpides NC. 2021. The IMG/M data management and analysis system v.6.0: new tools and advanced capabilities. Nucleic Acids Res 49:D751–D763.
- 128. Na S-I, Kim YO, Yoon S-H, Ha S, Baek I, Chun J. 2018. UBCG: Up-to-date bacterial core gene set and pipeline for phylogenomic tree reconstruction. J Microbiol 56:280–285.
- 129. Yoon S-H, Ha S-M, Kwon S, Lim J, Kim Y, Seo H, Chun J. 2017. Introducing EzBioCloud: a taxonomically united database of 16S rRNA gene sequences and wholegenome assemblies. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 67:1613–1617.
- 130. Knoll LB, Vanni MJ, Renwick WH, Dittman EK, Gephart JA. 2013. Temperate reservoirs are large carbon sinks and small CO2 sources: Results from high-resolution carbon budgets. Glob Biogeochemic Cyc Mar;27(1):52-64.

- 131. Koops HP, Pommerening-Röser A. 2001. Distribution and ecophysiology of the nitrifying bacteria emphasizing cultured species. FEMS Microbiol ecol 37(1):1-9.
- 132. Shears JH, Wood PM. 1985. Spectroscopic evidence for a photosensitive oxygenated state of ammonia mono-oxygenase. Biochem J 226:499–507.
- 133. Bartelme RP, McLellan SL, Newton RJ. 2017. Freshwater Recirculating Aquaculture System Operations Drive Biofilter Bacterial Community Shifts around a Stable Nitrifying Consortium of Ammonia-Oxidizing Archaea and Comammox Nitrospira. Front Microbiol 8.
- 134. Palomo A, Jane Fowler S, Gülay A, Rasmussen S, Sicheritz-Ponten T, Smets BF. 2016. Metagenomic analysis of rapid gravity sand filter microbial communities suggests novel physiology of Nitrospira spp. 11. ISME J 10:2569–2581.
- 135. Pinto AJ, Marcus DN, Ijaz UZ, Bautista-de lose Santos QM, Dick GJ, Raskin L. 2015. Metagenomic Evidence for the Presence of Comammox Nitrospira-Like Bacteria in a Drinking Water System. mSphere 1:e00054-15.
- 136. Huang T, Xia J, Liu T, Su Z, Guan Y, Guo J, Wang C, Zheng M. 2022. Comammox Nitrospira Bacteria Are Dominant Ammonia Oxidizers in Mainstream Nitrification Bioreactors Emended with Sponge Carriers. Environ Sci Technol 56:12584–12591.
- 137. Séneca J, Pjevac P, Canarini A, Herbold CW, Zioutis C, Dietrich M, Simon E, Prommer J, Bahn M, Pötsch EM. 2020. Composition and activity of nitrifier communities in soil are unresponsive to elevated temperature and CO2, but strongly affected by drought. ISME J 14:3038–3053.
- 138. Chain P, Lamerdin J, Larimer F, Regala W, Lao V, Land M, Hauser L, Hooper A, Klotz M, Norton J, Sayavedra-Soto L, Arciero D, Hommes N, Whittaker M, Arp D. 2003. Complete genome sequence of the ammonia-oxidizing bacterium and obligate chemolithoautotroph Nitrosomonas europaea. J Bacteriol 185:2759–2773.
- 139. Responses of Active Ammonia Oxidizers and Nitrification Activity in Eutrophic Lake Sediments to Nitrogen and Temperature | Applied and Environmental Microbiology. https://journals.asm.org/doi/full/10.1128/AEM.00258-19. Retrieved 20 May 2023.
- 140. Zhou X, Li B, Wei J, Ye Y, Xu J, Chen L, Lu C. 2021. Temperature Influenced the Comammox Community Composition in Drinking Water and Wastewater Treatment Plants. Microb Ecol 82:870–884.
- 141. Verhamme DT, Prosser JI, Nicol GW. 2011. Ammonia concentration determines differential growth of ammonia-oxidising archaea and bacteria in soil microcosms. ISME J 5:1067–1071.

- 142. Mukhtar H, Lin Y-P, Lin C-M, Lin Y-R. 2019. Relative Abundance of Ammonia Oxidizing Archaea and Bacteria Influences Soil Nitrification Responses to Temperature. Microorganisms 7:526.
- 143. Zhou X, Wang S, Ma S, Zheng X, Wang Z, Lu C. 2020. Effects of commonly used nitrification inhibitors—dicyandiamide (DCD), 3,4-dimethylpyrazole phosphate (DMPP), and nitrapyrin—on soil nitrogen dynamics and nitrifiers in three typical paddy soils. Geoderma 380:114637.
- 144. Lin Z, Huang W, Zhou J, He X, Wang J, Wang X, Zhou J. 2020. The variation on nitrogen removal mechanisms and the succession of ammonia oxidizing archaea and ammonia oxidizing bacteria with temperature in biofilm reactors treating saline wastewater. Bioresour Technol 314:123760.
- 145. Li D, Ren Z, Zhou Y, Jiang L, Zheng M, Liu G. 2023. Comammox Nitrospira and Ammonia-Oxidizing Archaea Are Dominant Ammonia Oxidizers in Sediments of an Acid Mine Lake Containing High Ammonium Concentrations. Appl Environ Microbiol 89:e00047-23.
- 146. Bollmann A, Bullerjahn GS, McKay RM. 2014. Abundance and Diversity of Ammonia-Oxidizing Archaea and Bacteria in Sediments of Trophic End Members of the Laurentian Great Lakes, Erie and Superior. PLOS ONE 9:e97068.
- 147. Liu Z, Zhang C, Wei Q, Zhang S, Quan Z, Li M. 2020. Temperature and salinity drive comammox community composition in mangrove ecosystems across southeastern China. Sci Total Environ 742:140456.
- 148. Zhao M, Tang X, Sun D, Hou L, Liu M, Zhao Q, Klümper U, Quan Z, Gu J-D, Han P. 2021. Salinity gradients shape the nitrifier community composition in Nanliu River Estuary sediments and the ecophysiology of comammox Nitrospira inopinata. Sci Total Environ 795:148768.
- 149. Mundepi A, Norton J, Cabrera M, Franklin D, Habteselassie MY. 2017. Ammonia Oxidizers in a Grazing Land with a History of Poultry Litter Application. J Environ Qual 46:994–1002.
- 150. Wang Y, Zhu G, Song L, Wang S, Yin C. 2014. Manure fertilization alters the population of ammonia-oxidizing bacteria rather than ammonia-oxidizing archaea in a paddy soil. J Basic Microbiol 54:190–197.
- 151. Merbt SN, Bernal S, Proia L, Martí E, Casamayor EO. 2017. Photoinhibition on natural ammonia oxidizers biofilm populations and implications for nitrogen uptake in stream biofilms. Limnol Oceanogr 62:364–375.

- 152. Wagner FB, Diwan V, Dechesne A, Fowler SJ, Smets BF, Albrechtsen H-J. 2019. Copperinduced stimulation of nitrification in biological rapid sand filters for drinking water production by proliferation of Nitrosomonas spp. Environ Sci Technol 53:12433–12441.
- 153. Wells GF, Park H-D, Yeung C-H, Eggleston B, Francis CA, Criddle CS. 2009. Ammoniaoxidizing communities in a highly aerated full-scale activated sludge bioreactor: betaproteobacterial dynamics and low relative abundance of Crenarchaea. Environ Microbiol 11:2310–2328.
- 154. Zheng M, He S, Feng Y, Wang M, Liu Y-X, Dang C, Wang J. 2021. Active ammoniaoxidizing bacteria and archaea in wastewater treatment systems. J Environ Sci 102:273– 282.
- 155. Leininger S, Urich T, Schloter M, Schwark L, Qi J, Nicol GW, Prosser JI, Schuster SC, Schleper C. 2006. Archaea predominate among ammonia-oxidizing prokaryotes in soils. Nature 442:806–809.
- 156. Mincer TJ, Church MJ, Taylor LT, Preston C, Karl DM, DeLong EF. 2007. Quantitative distribution of presumptive archaeal and bacterial nitrifiers in Monterey Bay and the North Pacific Subtropical Gyre. Environ Microbiol 9:1162–1175.
- 157. Vilardi KJ, Cotto I, Sevillano M, Dai Z, Anderson CL, Pinto A. 2022. Comammox Nitrospira bacteria outnumber canonical nitrifiers irrespective of electron donor mode and availability in biofiltration systems. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 98:fiac032.
- 158. Wang M, Huang G, Zhao Z, Dang C, Liu W, Zheng M. 2018. Newly designed primer pair revealed dominant and diverse comammox amoA gene in full-scale wastewater treatment plants. Bioresour Technol 270:580–587.
- 159. Spasov E, Tsuji JM, Hug LA, Doxey AC, Sauder LA, Parker WJ, Neufeld JD. 2020. High functional diversity among Nitrospira populations that dominate rotating biological contactor microbial communities in a municipal wastewater treatment plant. ISME J 14:1857–1872.
- 160. Li C, Hu H-W, Chen Q-L, Chen D, He J-Z. 2020. Niche differentiation of clade A comammox Nitrospira and canonical ammonia oxidizers in selected forest soils. Soil Biol Biochem 149:107925.
- 161. Shi X, Hu H-W, Wang J, He J-Z, Zheng C, Wan X, Huang Z. 2018. Niche separation of comammox Nitrospira and canonical ammonia oxidizers in an acidic subtropical forest soil under long-term nitrogen deposition. Soil Biol Biochem 126:114–122.
- 162. Nogueira R, Melo LF, Purkhold U, Wuertz S, Wagner M. 2002. Nitrifying and heterotrophic population dynamics in biofilm reactors: effects of hydraulic retention time and the presence of organic carbon. Water Res 36:469–481.

- 163. Winkler M-K, Boets P, Hahne B, Goethals P, Volcke EI. 2017. Effect of the dilution rate on microbial competition: r-strategist can win over k-strategist at low substrate concentration. PloS One 12:e0172785.
- 164. Nowka B, Daims H, Spieck E. 2015. Comparison of Oxidation Kinetics of Nitrite-Oxidizing Bacteria: Nitrite Availability as a Key Factor in Niche Differentiation. Appl Environ Microbiol 81:745–753.
- 165. Bollmann A, Bär-Gilissen M-J, Laanbroek HJ. 2002. Growth at low ammonium concentrations and starvation response as potential factors involved in niche differentiation among ammonia-oxidizing bacteria. Appl Environ Microbiol 68:4751– 4757.
- 166. Jung M-Y, Park S-J, Min D, Kim J-S, Rijpstra WIC, Sinninghe Damsté JS, Kim G-J, Madsen EL, Rhee S-K. 2011. Enrichment and characterization of an autotrophic ammonia-oxidizing archaeon of mesophilic crenarchaeal group I. 1a from an agricultural soil. Appl Environ Microbiol 77:8635–8647.
- 167. Williamson TJ. 2020. A multi-scale approach to understanding how environmental variability modulates structure and function in reservoir ecosystems. PhD Thesis. Miami University.
- 168. Zhao Z, Huang G, He S, Zhou N, Wang M, Dang C, Wang J, Zheng M. 2019. Abundance and community composition of comammox bacteria in different ecosystems by a universal primer set. Sci Total Environ 691:146–155.
- 169. Andrews JH, Harris RF. 1986. r-and K-selection and microbial ecology. Adv Microb Ecol 99–147.
- 170. Fierer N, Bradford MA, Jackson RB. 2007. Toward an ecological classification of soil bacteria. Ecology 88:1354–1364.
- 171. Berg IA. 2011. Ecological aspects of the distribution of different autotrophic CO2 fixation pathways. Appl Environ Microbiol 77:1925–1936.
- 172. Bar-Even A, Noor E, Milo R. 2012. A survey of carbon fixation pathways through a quantitative lens. J Exp Bot 63:2325–2342.
- 173. von Wirén N, Gazzarrini S, Gojon A, Frommer WB. 2000. The molecular physiology of ammonium uptake and retrieval. Curr Opin Plant Biol 3:254–261.
- 174. Gerendás J, Zhu Z, Bendixen R, Ratcliffe RG, Sattelmacher B. 1997. Physiological and biochemical processes related to ammonium toxicity in higher plants. Z Für Pflanzenernähr Bodenkd 160:239–251.

- 175. Hess DC, Lu W, Rabinowitz JD, Botstein D. 2006. Ammonium toxicity and potassium limitation in yeast. PLoS Biol 4:e351.
- 176. Hecnar SJ. 1995. Acute and chronic toxicity of ammonium nitrate fertilizer to amphibians from southern Ontario. Environ Toxicol Chem Int J 14:2131–2137.
- 177. Bae J-W, Kwon HJ, Kim S-H, Ma L, Im H, Kim E, Kim MO, Kwon W-S. 2020. Inhalation of ammonium sulfate and ammonium nitrate adversely affect sperm function. Reprod Toxicol 96:424–431.
- 178. Keller MD, Selvin RC, Claus W, Guillard RR. 1987. Media for the culture of oceanic ultraphytoplankton 1, 2. J Phycol 23:633–638.
- 179. Krogmann DW, Jagendorf AT, Avron M. 1959. Uncouplers of Spinach Chloroplast Photosynthetic Phosphorylation. Plant Physiol 34:272.
- 180. Zhu Z, Gerendas J, Bendixen R, Schinner K, Tabrizi H, Sattelmacher B, Hansen U-P. 2000. Different tolerance to light stress in NO3–and NH4+-grown Phaseolus vulgaris L. Plant Biol 2:558–570.
- 181. Gutteridge JM, Mitchell J. 1999. Redox imbalance in the critically ill. Br Med Bull 55:49– 75.
- 182. Imlay JA. 2008. Cellular defenses against superoxide and hydrogen peroxide. Annu Rev Biochem 77:755–776.
- 183. Cooke MS, Evans MD, Dizdaroglu M, Lunec J. 2003. Oxidative DNA damage: mechanisms, mutation, and disease. FASEB J 17:1195–1214.
- 184. Evans MD, Dizdaroglu M, Cooke MS. 2004. Oxidative DNA damage and disease: induction, repair and significance. Mutat Res Mutat Res 567:1–61.
- 185. Wang F, Yuan Q, Chen F, Pang J, Pan C, Xu F, Chen Y. 2021. Fundamental mechanisms of the cell death caused by nitrosative stress. Front Cell Dev Biol 9:742483.
- 186. Sedlacek CJ, Nielsen S, Greis KD, Haffey WD, Revsbech NP, Ticak T, Laanbroek HJ, Bollmann A. 2016. Effects of Bacterial Community Members on the Proteome of the Ammonia-Oxidizing Bacterium Nitrosomonas sp. Strain Is79. Appl Environ Microbiol 82:4776–4788.
- 187. Bollmann A, Laanbroek HJ. 2001. Continuous culture enrichments of ammonia-oxidizing bacteria at low ammonium concentrations. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 37:211–221.
- 188. Bollmann A, Sedlacek CJ, Norton J, Laanbroek HJ, Suwa Y, Stein LY, Klotz MG, Arp D, Sayavedra-Soto L, Lu M. 2013. Complete genome sequence of Nitrosomonas sp. Is79, an

ammonia oxidizing bacterium adapted to low ammonium concentrations. Stand Genomic Sci 7:469–482.

- 189. Carr RJ, Bilton RF, Atkinson T. 1986. Toxicity of paraquat to microorganisms. Appl Environ Microbiol 52:1112–1116.
- 190. Schlesinger WH. 2009. On the fate of anthropogenic nitrogen. Proc Natl Acad Sci 106:203–208.
- 191. Mancino CF, Troll J. 1990. Nitrate and ammonium leaching losses from N fertilizers applied toPenncross' creeping bentgrass. HortScience 25:194–196.
- 192. Anderson DM, Glibert PM, Burkholder JM. 2002. Harmful algal blooms and eutrophication: nutrient sources, composition, and consequences. Estuaries 25:704–726.
- 193. Justić D, Rabalais NN, Turner RE, Dortch Q. 1995. Changes in nutrient structure of riverdominated coastal waters: stoichiometric nutrient balance and its consequences. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 40:339–356.
- 194. Hawley AK, Brewer HM, Norbeck AD, Paša-Tolić L, Hallam SJ. 2014. Metaproteomics reveals differential modes of metabolic coupling among ubiquitous oxygen minimum zone microbes. Proc Natl Acad Sci 111:11395–11400.
- 195. Han Y, Zhang M, Chen X, Zhai W, Tan E, Tang K. 2022. Transcriptomic evidences for microbial carbon and nitrogen cycles in the deoxygenated seawaters of Bohai Sea. Environ Int 158:106889.
- 196. Park J-G, Lee B, Heo T-Y, Cheon A-I, Jun H-B. 2021. Metagenomics approach and canonical correspondence analysis of novel nitrifiers and ammonia-oxidizing archaea in full scale anaerobic-anoxic-oxic (A2/O) and oxidation ditch processes. Bioresour Technol 319:124205.
- 197. Wang D, Wang Y, Liu L, Chen Y, Wang C, Xu X, Yang Y, Wang Y, Zhang T. 2022. Niche differentiation and symbiotic association among ammonia/nitrite oxidizers in a full-scale rotating biological contactor. Water Res 225:119137.
- 198. van Niel EWJ, Arts PAM, Wesselink BJ, Robertson LA, Kuenen JG. 1993. Competition between heterotrophic and autotrophic nitrifiers for ammonia in chemostat cultures. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 11:109–118.